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The two additional sections are on the web: https://www.nature.scot/professional­
advice/protected-areas-and-specfes/licensing/species-licensing-z-guide/red-grouse-and­
Ucensing 

• Determining the area of land to which the licence relates

• Approach to enforcement

In relation to NatureScot's power to suspend or revoke under section 16AA(9)(b)(ii), 
where the relevant offence has been committed on the land to which the licence relates 
but outside of the area on which killing or taking is permitted by the licence, NatureScot 
will only suspend or revoke where it is satisfied that there is a connection between the 
relevant offence and the management of the area on which killing or taking ·is permitted 
by the licence. 

We haven't made changes to the Framework document itself - but I see a further email on this. 

NatureScot I Great Glen House I Inverness I IV3 8NW I 01463- I 

nature.scot I @nature_scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

From: @scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, July 25, 2024 9:58 AM 
To: @nature.scot> 
Cc: @nature.scot>;-

@scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
@nature.scot> 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

@nature .scot>; 

I'm struggling a little today- but could call after 3.30? no change from our side as we wont have 
further legal advice until after 29 July.- mentioned the socials as part of your com ms 
plan as well as updated guidance for applicants, if you were able to share any updates that 
would be really helpful. 

Let me know what time suits later 



Regards 

I 

From: @nature.scot> 

Sent: Thursday, July 25, 2024 9:18 AM 

To: @scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Cc: @nature.scot>; -

- @scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

@nature.scot> 

Subject: RE : Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Hi _ , 

@nature.scot>; 

Do you have some time later this morning or afternoon for a quick telephone call? Just 

conscious we haven't touched base this week. 

We will also look to put some basic com ms today on social media around need for licences 

before 12th August and link to where to apply- I think- mentioned this last week. 

-
NatureScot [ Great Glen House [ Inverness I IV3 8NW I 0146:allll l 
nature.scot I @nature_scot I Scotland' s Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

From: @scottish la n da ndesta tes. co. u k> 

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2024 3:13 PM 

To: @nature .scot>; ~ 
• ates.co.uk> 

@nature.scot>; 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Dear- et al 

I wanted to update you on discussions we are having internally and with legal advisers -we are 

awaiting further advice from our KC and don't plan to issue any further guidance to members 

for the time being. 

We really appreciate the ongoing discussions and the acceptance of some of the points we 

have made, but our fundamental issue in relation to the area to which the licence relates 

remains. Therefore, our advice to members to delay applications is still in place. 

We will be in touch as soon as we receive further advice from the KC. 

I am back on line on Friday. 



Best regards 

I 

From: @nature . scot> 

Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2024 4:02 PM 

@scot tish land a ndestates.co.uk> 

@nature.scot>; 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Both, 

I sa id I wou ld come back to you with some add itional thoughts on the administrative bou ndary of the 

licence and the need to cont inue to rational ise it. 

In princip le, we accept that there wi ll be areas w ithin t he land holding boundary which are not 

subject to any land management act ivity, such as villages or areas assigned exclusively fo r ot her 

business or recreational use and we are t herefore comfortable t hese should be exc luded from the 

licence application w here it is preferable and/or easier for the applicant do so. 

On the subj ect of align ing app lications with sporting leases, it our view that in certain ci rcumstances, 

it maybe appropriate for the area of the sport ing lease to const itute the area of land to which the 

licence relates. Our expectation though is that t his will be the exception rather tha n the norm and w ill 

address those larger properties e.g. etc where the sporting beats are clearly 

defined and are almost akin to small estates in t heir own right. 

If there are any specific point of detai l t hat emerge, I wou ld encourage your members to contact■ 
and the tea m directly to work through them. 

I hope that's helpful, in add itional to the point s made below and allows you to provide some 

reassurance to members. 

Kind Regards, 

-
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Afba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this emai l late at night or early in the morning it means I am working flexibly but 

please do not feel that you have to pick th is up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: 

Sent: 16 July 2024 12:45 

To: @scottish landandest ates.co.uk>; 



@scottishlandandestates.co.uk>
Cc: @nature.scot>; @nature.scot>;

@nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing
 

 
Thank you for your email and the discussion yesterday. 
 
You will appreciate that NatureScot has taken legal advice on our approach, including in relation to
the area of land to which the licences will relate, and we are comfortable that the process is robust.
However, it would obviously be better if we can find a solution that stakeholders are comfortable
with, provided that it continues to give effect to the legislative intention.  So, on that basis there are a
number of things that we can do to address most, if not all, of the concerns raised below:
 

1. 

 
2. 

 
3. The perceived link between other types of game shooting (e.g., pheasant & red-legged

partridge) and raptor persecution should not be addressed by expanding the land to which the
licence relates. It is on the parliamentary record that such a correlation would be addressed by
the addition of said birds to schedule 2 part 1B, at which point the land to which a section
16AA licence would relate might reasonably expand. – Agreed – that is not what we are
proposing to do. This licence relates to Grouse Moor Management.

 
4. A tenant cannot be reasonably expected to ensure compliance with a code of practice over

land to which they have no formal rights (and vice-versa).  – Agreed (although there is no
obligation to ensure compliance) – so we will address this by changing the wording of the of the
licence - Condition 2 of the Licence will be amended to state " You [as the Licence holder] must
have regard for the code of practice https://www.nature.scot/doc/guidance-code-practice-
grouse-moor-management

 
5. 

 
6. A tenant may not possess a map illustrating the landholding boundary – this is understood, but

surely not insurmountable in discussion with the owner?
 
I accept that some of these changes may not allay your main concerns about licensable area, but as
you know in the interest of efficiency of process and to enable all those who wish to shoot grouse the
opportunity to do so at the start of the season on 12 August, we are offering an automated service



which provides a default licence in which t he licensable area will be t he land holding boundary as 

provided by t he applicant. 

For applicants who are looking for a more nuanced licensable area (and I hope t hose are in t he 

minority) t hen t hose individua ls wi ll need to contact the Licensing Team direct and we can manua lly 

assess the proposed bespoke area. However, applicants wi ll need to be made awa re t hat t he t ime 

involved in assessing a bespoke area mea ns they may not have the ir licence in place for t he st art of 

the grouse season, t herefore it may be prudent to com mit to the adapt ive approach you suggest 

below and over time and refine t he boundary to which the licence relates and we can modify t hose 

licences accordingly. 

Final ly, if any of your members are minded to appeal at this stage because t hey are not happy wit h 

the cond itions attached to the licence t hat is issued - I would have thought that agreement cou ld be 

reached that one appea l can be advanced and t hat we wil l adapt the scheme in accordance with any 

decision as req uired. 

I hope that is helpful. We have some time scheduled to discuss th is afternoon and hopefully agree 

this as a way forward . 

Kind Regards, 

-
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/h im I if you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working flexibly but 

please do not feel that you have to pick th is up outside of your own norma I working hours. 

From: 

Sent: 15 July 2024 13:22 

@scottish landandestates.co.uk> 

@nature scot> 

@scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

Subject: Fo llow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Importance: High 

-
Thanks for your t ime, and especially to you, _ , for dialling on while on holiday. ■and I 
spoke fo llowing our discussion and just wanted to follow-up with a couple of points. 

The first is that SLE's preferred option by far would be to designate land managed for the 

purposes of killing/ taking red grouse as the land to which the licence relates. This would 

be in line with the legislation and, crucially, would cover the commissioning of any relevant 

offences undertaken in pursuit of grouse moor management. If it would be of comfort to 

NatureScot to take an adaptive management approach - where the boundary of the land to 

which the licence relates relative to the commission ing of relevant offences by re levant 

persons is monitored - then we would be comfortable with that. Adopting this option would 



cause minimum disruption to what has already been prepared, and SLE would make clear in
subsequent guidance that any land being managed for the purposes of killing / taking red
grouse should be shaded in blue, thereby constituting the land to which the licence will relate.
This option is unlikely to result in any challenges to the Sheriff Court by prospective applicants,
and would only require minor tweaking to NatureScot’s existing guidance.
 
The other options discussed are likely to result in an outcome which SLE would not consider
helpful at this crucial stage: namely the submission of applications which contain
conscientious objections to the land to which the licence relates (currently proposed as being
the landholding boundary). This may take a number of forms, but would ultimately result in
licences being rejected and appeals subsequently lodged to the Sheriff Court. In that
eventuality, our legal advice suggests that any Sheriff would likely be sympathetic to the
following points, most of which we have discussed:
 

1. 

2. 

3. The perceived link between other types of game shooting (e.g., pheasant & red-legged
partridge) and raptor persecution should not be addressed by expanding the land to
which the licence relates. It is on the parliamentary record that such a correlation would
be addressed by the addition of said birds to schedule 2 part 1B, at which point the land
to which a section 16AA licence would relate might reasonably expand.

4. A tenant cannot be reasonably expected to ensure compliance with a code of practice
over land to which they have no formal rights (and vice-versa).

5. 

6. A tenant may not possess a map illustrating the landholding boundary.
 
In summary, we feel an adaptive management approach which designates land managed for
the purposes of killing / taking red grouse would likely strike the right balance given where we
are. It would also avoid an immediate rush of appeals which are likely to reverberate and
undermine the confidence in the licensing scheme at-large.
 
Happy to chat further on this and will issue guidance to members once your position is
crystallised.
 
Best wishes,
 

 
 

Scottish Land & Estates
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:  T:  W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

-
--
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From: 
To: 
Subject: 
Date: 

RE: SLE iscussion 29/7/202.4 
31 July 2024 17:39:25 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

Please see my responses below - I think this covers all of the points for me, but let me know if not or if 
any clarification is required 

Kind regards, 

1111 

-
Fax: 014·1 229 7148 

Mob: -

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G I 3PE 

Recommended in Commercial Litigation, Media & Entertainment, 
Professional Negligence, Sport and Litigation 

From: @nature.scot> 

Sent: Tuesday, July 30, 2024 4:36 PM 

To: @harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Subject: RE: SLE discussion 29/7/2024 

catching up on grouse licence discussions. 

It would be good to catch up on the questions in the email below. I also have some other 

queries from another stakeholder, which it would be good to check our proposed answers to. 

I wi ll get t hem across to you separately. 

Have you got some time tomorrow? 

Many thanks, 

-
From: @nature.scot> 



Fax: 01412297148 

Mob: 

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G 1 3PE 

Recommended in Commercial Litigation, Media & EnteTtainmenl, Professional 
Negligence, Sport and Litigation 

From: @axiomadvocates.com> 

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 4:37 PM 

To: @ha rpermacleod .co. uk> 

Subject: Re : NatureScot 

Thanks for your email. It's always helpful to get something down in writing and 'test' that. 

I'm travelling back to Edinburgh this weekend but wi ll look at in the early part of next week. 

Kind regards 

-
Sent from my phone - please excuse typos and informal language. 

@axiomadvocates.com 

Clerking team: 

■ 

On 16 Aug 2024, at 17:29, @harpermacleod.co.uk> wrote : 



From: 
To: 
Cc: (Scotland}: 

vi ence 
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Ccunsel - The Land to which the Section 16M 

Licence Relates 
Date: 
Attachments: 

22 August 2024 09:29:48 
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Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only. 

Good Morning All, 

_] 

I hope this finds you well. We are looking forward to catching up with you tomorrow following 

our discussion last week on the land to which the licence relates for the purposes of section 

16AA licensing. 

We have had the opportunity to confer internally and with key member sub-groups since our 

last meeting. Suffice to say we remain committed to resolving this matter collaboratively rather 

than litigiously, and we will do all we can to assist you in finding a resolution. Please do not 

hesitate to reach out should you requ ire any input from us. 

That said, I am sure you will appreciate that we also have an obligation to safeguard our 

members' legal interests. To ensure this, this matter must be resolved no later than 15 

September 2024. You will appreciate that there are timescales assoc iated with legal challenges 

which we would be bounded should a collaborative resolution fail to materialise, and it is for 

that reason we have set the deadline we have. 

We are confident that a collaborative resolution will be found ahead of then and look forward to 

working with you on this. Please let us know if you have any questions. 

With best wishes, 

1111 

Scottish Land & Estates 
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M:- T: 013.1653 s..ioo W: scottishlanda.ndestates.co.ukTwitte1.·: /aJScotLand.Estates 

Follow us: ~ [i] [i] [i] [i] 
,Join today ... 



■ 

From: nature.scot> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 5:10 PM 
To:- --scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

nature.scot>; �nature.scot> 
Cc: �scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;-
-gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;- {Scotland} --basc.org.uk>;-
1111 nature.scot>; (Evidence) �basc.org.uk>;■ 
- �nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates 

Many thanks to you all for taking the time for the helpful and constructive chat this afternoon. 

From a quick look at calendars 10:00-10:30 or 12:00 to 12:30 look like possibilities. I'm aware 
that we may prefer longer than half an hour so I will look to see if I can stretch either of these 
slots. 

I hope this helps and will wait to hear back to whether or not these times suit. 

Many thanks, 

• 

From:- --scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 4:58 PM 
To: nature.scot>; �nature.scot> 
Cc: �scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;-
-gillespiemacandrew.co.uk:- {Scotland)->;-
1111 nature.scot>; (Evidence) �basc.org.uk>;■ 
- �nature scot>; �nature scot>
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates 

-■Ill

With thanks for your time this afternoon- greatly appreciated. 

If I could ask you to share your availability for Friday 23 August we will consult internally and 
revert with a suitable time - hope that's OK. 

As discussed, SLE is due to have a meeting with some key members at 1700 on Monday 19 

Hi~ 



August via MS Teams. If it would be possible for a representat ive from NatureScot to attend 

then that would be greatly appreciated. 

Best wishes, 

1111 

Stuart House, Eskrnills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M:- T:  5400 W: scottishlandandestates.co.ukTwitkr: @ScotLaud.Estates 

Follow us: ■ j [iJ [i] [i] [i] 
Jointodav ... 

L ■ 

From: -
Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 1:15 PM 

To: nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 

Cc: scottishlandandestates co uk>;-
- gillespiemaca ndrew.co.uk:- (Scotland) ~ basc.org.uk>; -

1111 ~ nature.scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org.uk>;■ 
- ~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

w hich the Section 16AA Licence Relates 

No problem - -thanks for confirming.I will join at 1630 unless her previous call finishes 

early. 

-
Stuart House, Eskrnills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
Mi - T:  5400 W: scottishlandaudestates.co.uk Twitte1•: l@ScotLan.dEstates 

Followus: I~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
Join todav ... 

■ 

l 



From: nature.scot> 

Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 1:14 PM 

To: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc: scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

- gi llespiemacandrew.co.uk:- {Scotland) --basc.org.uk>; -

1111 nature .scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org . uk>;■ 

- ~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opin ion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

which the Section 16AA Licence Relates 

• - I have got a hard finish at 1700 - so would prefer to stick with the timing we have planned if 

possible __ is on leave, so . and■ are joining. 

Cheers, 

-
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair no h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working flexibly but 
please do not feel that you have to pick this up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: 14 August 2024 12:26 

To: nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 

Cc: ..-iscottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

- gillespiemacandrew.co.uk:- (Scotland) --basc.org.uk>; -

1111 nature .scot>; (Evidence) ~ basc.org.uk> 

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

which the Section 16AA Licence Relates ... 
Hope this finds you well and looking forward to catching up this afternoon ref the matter below. 

Cou ld I ask if it would be possible to move the meeting to 1630-1730?  has another call which 

is due to conclude at 1630, so would mean she could join for the duration. 

If this is possible, please let me know and I'll amend the invite. Thanks! 

Best wishes , 

-
Scottish Land & Estates 



Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:  T:  W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

Follow us:                       
 
Join today…

 

 
 
From:  
Sent: Sunday, August 11, 2024 8:28 PM
To:  < nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>; 
 < nature.scot>;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates

 
Thanks 
 
I have cross-checked availability with on receipt of  below email. 1600 on 14 Aug
would appear to work for all parties so have sent a MS Teams invite to that effect.  may be
able to join for some of the discussion pending conclusion of an earlier meeting.
 
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

 

 
 
From:  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk> 
Sent: Friday, August 9, 2024 3:30 PM
To:  < nature.scot>; 
< scottishlandandestates.co.uk>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

■ 

-

-
1111 - ■ 

-

■ 

-- -

---- -



@gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>; 
 < nature.scot>

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates

 
Hi All,
 
I can do the times suggested on the 14th August and any time in the morning on the 15th

August except between 11:15-11:45. I am out of the office on the 15th August.

Thank you.

Best,
 

 
From:  < nature.scot> 
Sent: Friday, August 9, 2024 3:15 PM
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>;
 (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>; 

< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates

 
Hi 
 
Apologies for the delay in responding to your email.
 
Would any of the following dates/times be suitable for yourself and  to meet next
week?
 
14th Aug: 10:45 – 11:45 or 14:00 onwards
15th Aug: currently any time apart from 10:00 – 10:45
 
Kind regards,
 

 
NatureScot | Great Glen House, Leachkin Road, Inverness IV3 8NW | t:  
nature.scot | @nature scot | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba
 
 
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 7, 2024 11:53 AM
To:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>;
 (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>

- -- -

-
- ----- - --

-- -

1111 

-

-------

- --



Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates

Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only.

Morning Both,

Hope this finds you well. I just wanted to drop you a line to ask if you have had the opportunity
to consider the below?

Depending on how far you have got, it may be worth our while scheduling a call to discuss –
perhaps next week?

Let us know your thoughts when you can.

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
Sent: Friday, August 2, 2024 11:37 AM
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>; Francesca Osowska <ceo@nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>;
 (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>

Subject: Re: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to
which the Section 16AA Licence Relates

 

 
Thanks for this and to acknowledge receipt. We will of course consider and get back to
you. 
 

-
, ~ ~ ~ ~ 

I 
■ 

I 

- -
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
M: - T: - W: scottishlanda.ndestates.co.uk Twitte1.·: /aJScotLand.Estates 

Follow us: ~ [i] [~ [i] [i] 
,Join today ... 



■ 

From: nat ure.scot> 

Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 5:10 PM 

To: - --scottishlanda ndestates.co.uk>; 

nat ure.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 

Cc: ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

- gi llespiemacandrew.co.uk; - {Scotland} --basc.org.uk>; -

1111 nature.scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org.uk>;■ 
- ~ nature.scot> 
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

I hope this helps and will wait to hear back to whether or not these times su it. 

Many thanks, 

• 
From: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 4:58 PM 

To: nat ure.scot>; ~ nat ure.scot> 

Cc: ~ scott ishlandandest ates.co.uk>; -

- gi llespiemacandrew.co.uk:- {Scotland) - >; -

1111 nature.scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org . u k>;■ 

- ~ nature scot>; ~ nature scot> 
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

If I could ask you to share your ava ilability for Friday 23 August we will consult internally and 

revert with a suitable t ime - hope that's OK. 

As discussed, SLE is due to have a meeting with some key members at 1700 on Monday 19 



August via MS Teams. If it would be possible for a representative from NatureScot to attend 

then that would be greatly appreciated. 

Best wishes, 

1111 

Stuart House, Eskrnills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M:- T: - W: scottishlandandestates.co.ukTwitter: /ii'ScotLand.Estates 

Follow us: ■ j ~ J ~ [i] [i] 
Jointodav ... 

L ■ 

From: -
Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 1:15 PM 

To: nature.scot>; ~ nat ure.scot> 

Cc: scottishlandandestates co 1J k>; -

- gillespiemaca ndrew.co .uk:- (Scotland) ~ basc.org.uk>; -

1111 ~ nature .scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org.uk>;■ 
- ~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

which the Section 16AA Licence Relates 

No problem - -thanks for confirming.I will jo in at 1630 unless her previous call finishes 

early. 

-
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, MusselbUl'gh EH21 7PB 
Mi - T: - W: scottish]andandestates.co.uk Twitte1•: l@ScotLandEstates 

Follow us: I~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
Jointodav ... 

■ 

l 



From: nature.scot> 

Sent: Wednesday, August 14, 2024 1:14 PM 

To: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc: scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

- gi llespiemacand rew.co .uk:- (Scotland) --basc.org.uk>; -

1111 ~ nature.scot>; (Evidence) ~basc.org . u k>;■ 
- ~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

which t he Section 16AA Licence Relates 

• - I have got a hard f inish at 1700 - so wou ld prefer t o stick wit h the timing we have pla nned if 

possible __ is on leave, so . and■ are joining. 

Cheers, 

-
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Ni:Jdair na h-Alba 

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

- gi llespiemacandrew.co .uk:- (Scotland) --basc.org.uk>; -

1111 nature.scot>; (Evidence) ~ basc.org.uk> 

Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to 

which the Section 16AA Licence Relates ... 
Hope this finds you well and looking forward to catching up this afternoon ref the matter below. 

Could I ask if it would be possible to move the meeting to 1630-1730?1 has another call which 

is due to conclude at 1630, so would mean she could join for the duration. 

If th is is possible, please let me know and I'll amend the invite. Thanks! 

Best wishes, 

-
Scottish Land & &tates 



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
M: T:  W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

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

, ~~ ~ 

■ 

-

-
1111 - I 

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
M:    W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

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
,~Cr; ~ 

I 
■ 

I 

---
- -

-
-



 
 

 
 

 
 
Scottish Land & Estates
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:   T:  W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates
 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom
they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify the system manager or the sender. 
Please note that for business purposes, outgoing and incoming emails from and to NatureScot may be monitored.

Tha am post-dealain seo agus fiosrachadh sam bith na chois dìomhair agus airson an neach no buidheann ainmichte a- mhàin.
Mas e gun d’ fhuair sibh am post-dealain seo le mearachd, cuiribh fios dhan manaidsear-siostaim no neach- sgrìobhaidh.
Thoiribh an aire airson adhbharan gnothaich, ‘s dòcha gun tèid sùil a chumail air puist-dealain a’ tighinn a-steach agus a’ dol a-
mach bho NàdarAlba.
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BASC may monitor email traffic. By replying to this e-mail you consent to BASC
monitoring the content of any email you send or receive from BASC. Any views expressed
in this message are those of the individual sender, except where the sender specifies with
authority, states them to be the views of the British Association for Shooting and
Conservation. BASC can confirm that this email message and any attachments have
been scanned for the presence of computer viruses but recommends that you make your
own virus checks. Registered Society No.: 28488R. Registered Office: Marford Mill,
Rossett, Wrexham, LL12 0HL. BASC is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority ref 311937.
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Fax: 014 I 229 7148 

Mob: 

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G'l 3PE 

Recommended in Commercial Litigation, Media & Entertainment, Professional 
Negligence, Sport and Litigation 

From: @axiomadvocates.com> 

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 4 :37 PM 

To: @harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Subject: Re: NatureScot 

Thanks for your email. It's always helpful to get something down in writing and 'test' that. 

I'm travelling back to Edinburgh this weekend but will look at in the early part of next week. 

Kind regards 

-
Sent from my phone - please excuse typos and informal language. 

@axiomadvocates.com 

Clerking team: 

■ 

On 16 Aug 2024, at 17:29, @ha rpermacleod.co.uk> wrote : 



Dear 
 
Thanks for your email. It’s always helpful to get something down in writing and ‘test’ that.
 
I’m travelling back to Edinburgh this weekend but will look at in the early part of next week.
 
Kind regards
 

 

 

 
 
Sent from my phone - please excuse typos and informal language.

 

 
axiomadvocates.com

 
www.axiomadvocates.com
Clerking team: 
 

 

On 16 Aug 2024, at 17:29,  < harpermacleod.co.uk> wrote:

1111 

-
■ 

I ■ 

-----



I've promised to get back to SL&E tomorrow morning ahead of the meeting on Friday so would be 

good to have a steer on how to present it. 

Are you around for a quick call at 9:45 tomorrow morning? 

Thanks, 

-
From: - ~ harpermacleod.co.ub 

Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 4:56 PM 

To:-~nature.scot>; - ~ nature.scot> 

Sub'ect: FW: NatureScot 

1111 

-
Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: 

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G 1 3PE 

From: - ~ axiomadvocates com> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 4:53 PM 

To: - ~ harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Subject: Re: NatureScot 

■ 

- KC 



- axiomadvocates.com 

www.axiomadvocates.com 

Clerking team: 

■ 

From: - --harpermacleod.co.uk> 
Sent: 11 September 2024 15:04 

To:-._axiomadvocates.com> 
Subject: RE: NatureScot 

Thanks .• 

PARTNER 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: 

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G1 3PE 

Recommended in Commercial Uugation, Media & Entertainment, Professional 
Negligence, Sport and Utigation 

From: - ._axiomadvocates.com> 

Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 2:59 PM 

To:---harpermacleod.co.uk> 
Subject: Re: NatureScot 

This is on my to do lisl I should be able to get back to you later today or tomorrow morning. 

Kind regards 

-

-



- axiomadvocates .com 

www.axiomadvocates.com 

Clerking team: 

■ 

From: - ~ harpermacleod co uk> 
Sent: 11 September 2024 14:30 

To: - ~ axiomadvocates.com> 
Subject: RE: NatureScot 

Dear -

I am just following up on my email below. The clients have their rescheduled meeting with SLE on Friday 
morning and I said I would check with you to see if you have capacity to provide comment on this before then. 

Kind regards, 

1111 

PARTNER 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: 

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G1 3PE 

Recommended in Commercial utigation, Media & Entertainment, Professional 
Negligence, Sport and Utigation 

From: -

Sent: Frid ay, Septem ber 6, 2024 11:39 AM 

To: - ~ axiomadvocates.com> 
Subject: RE: NatureScot 



1111 

From: - ~ axiomadvocates.com > 

Sent~ Tuesday, August 27, 2024 3:56 PM 

To:---harpermadeod.co.ub 
Subject: Re: NatureScot 

Kind regards 

■ 

-■ 

axiomadvocates.com 

www.axiomadvocates.com 

Clerking team: 

■ 

From:---harpermacleod co ub 



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

Importance: 

FW: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 
17 September 202.4 16:03:00 
imageOOl.png 
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Advice on Condition 17 September 202.4.pdf 
Proposed Amendment - Section 16AA Licence Draft Condition.docx 

High 

Would be good to discuss. I will try and give you a call in a moment. 

Thanks, 

• 
From:- --scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 2:30 PM 

nature.scot>; - ~ nature.scot>; 

nature.scot>; - ~ nature.scot> 

Cc: ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

- gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;--~basc.org.uk>; -

----basc.org.uk> 
Subject: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Sect ion 16AA Licences 

Importance: High 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Restricted , Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only 

Dear All, 

I attach the opinion of our senior counsel, in the matter regarding the draft 

section 16AA licence condition which you kindly shared with us on 12 September. 

Clearly this opinion puts us in a somewhat difficult position, and we are unable to accept the 

draft condition in its current form. However, in the spirit of finding consensus, I attach the draft 

condition with amendments by way of tracked changes which we believe will strike the right 

balance between safeguarding our members' legal interests and delivering the policy objective 

you have described. These amendments have been drafted in conjunction with senior counsel. 

We look forward to having a fuller discussion on this tomorrow afternoon. In the meantime, we 

would be grateful if you could give our legal opinion and proposed amendments due 

consideration. We would also appreciate an update tomorrow on your commitment to update 

your guidance on the area of land to which the licence is to relate - noting your intent to update 

gu i da nee by 3 0 September with modifications taking place shortly thereafter. 



With best wishes,
 

 
Note – this email reflects the view of SLE and my BASC colleagues (copied) will confirm their
view forthwith as soon as they have had the opportunity to confer internally.

Scottish Land & Estates
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:  T:  W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

Follow us:                       

Join today…

-

~ n'I ~ 

■ 



From: 
To: 
Cc: (Scotland}: 

VJ ence 
Subject: 
Date: 

Re: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 

17 September 202.4 16:24:40 
Attachments: imageOOl.png 
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Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Dear All, 

Further to my last, I can confirm the above email also reflects the position of BASC. 

Best wishes, 

-
Scottish Land & Estates 

Stuart House. Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH217PB 

M - T: W : scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitterc @ScotLandEstates 

From:- ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 2:30 PM 

To: nature.scot ~ nature.scot>; 

~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot>; 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc: ~ scottish landandestates.co.uk>; -

- gi llespiemacandrew.co.uk gillespiemacandrew.co.uk>; 

- ~ basc.org.uk>; (Evidence) 

~ basc.org.uk> 

Subject: Restricted, Confidential & Lega lly Privileged - Draft Condition -Section 16AA Licences 

Restricted. Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only 

Dear All, 

I attach the opinion of our senior counsel, , in the matter regarding the draft 

section 16AA licence condition which you kindly shared with us on 12 September. 

Clearly this opinion puts us in a somewhat difficult position, and we are unable to accept the 

draft condition in its currentform. However, in the spirit of finding consensus, I attach the draft 

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
your guidance on the area of land to which the licence is to relate – noting your intent to update
guidance by 30 September with modifications taking place shortly thereafter.

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



Restricted . Confidential & Legally Privileged 

Conditions relating to land management 

1 .1 The licence holder shall take reasonable steps to ensure that neither they nor amt 

person within their emo1oweat or contml does anv act flflfliiflgis SBne for the purposes of or in 
relation to the management of the lend to which this licence relateS;- which would be an offence 

under sections 1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which: 

1 .1.1 involves any of the species mentioned at 1.2 of this condition; and 

1 .1.2 takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates ~ut which Is owned or 

1 .2 The species referred to at 1. 1. 1 of this condition are as follows: 

[Raptors etc.] 

Comment~ ]: "but the management of which Is 
controlled t,yfflcence holder"would be another 
permissible option. 



From: 
To: 
Cc: (Scotland}: 

vI ence 
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 

20 September 2024 14:25:00 Date: 
Attachments: imageOOl.png 
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Dearllll 

Thank you for sharing this with us. We have discussed with our own external advisers, Harper Macleod 
LLP, and 

We believe that the condition as drafted is lawful , although we of course take account of what-­
■ says in his opinion and have been well advised as to the unpredictability of judicial review.""'v"ie"are 
any event keen to find a solution that works for all stakeholders, provided that it meets the legislative intent 
of addressing the issues of raptor persecution in the vicinity of grouse moors. 

With that in mind, and taking account of your suggested changes, we have revised the condition as 
follows: 

1 . The licence holder shall not do any act, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that no person 

within their employment or control shall do any act, for the purposes of or in relation to the 

management of the land to which this licence relates which would be an offence under sections 

1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which: 

1.1.1 involves any of the species mentioned at 1. 2 of this condition; and 

1.1 .2 takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates. 

2. The species referred to at 1. 1. 1 of this condition are as follows: 

Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus), Red Kite (Milvus milvus), White-tailed Eagle (Haliaeetus albicilla), 
Eurasian Marsh Harrier (Circus aeruginosus), Hen Harrier (Circus cyaneus), Northern Goshawk (Accipiter 
gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus), Common Buzzard (Buteo buteo), Golden Eagle 
(Aquila chrysaetos), Osprey (Pandion haliaetus), Common Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus), Merlin (Falco 
columbarius), Eurasian Hobby (Falco Subbuteo), Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus), Rough-legged 
buzzard (Buteo lagopus), Barn Owl (Tyto alba), Little Owl (Athene Noctua), Tawny Owl (Strix aluco), Long­
eared Owl (Asio otus), Short-eared Owl (Asio flammeus), Snowy Owl (Nyctea scandiaca), Raven (Corvus 
corax) 

The change at 1.1 , is intended to address - "guarantee" point in respect of those in the 
employ or control of the licence holder. We do not consider that concern arises in relation to the licence 
holder's own acts. 

We have not included the change you have suggested at 1.1.2 because that would leave it open to a 
I icence holder to act or cause others to act contrary to those sections of the 1981 Act on land which they 
do not own or occupy and for the purposes of managing the land to which the licence relates, without 
breaching the conditions of the licence. For example, the killing of an eagle by such persons on land 
adjacent to but not in common ownership with the grouse moor, would not be caught. 

We do not think that should cause concern to licence holders because any such act which is not for the 
purposes of or in relation to the management of the grouse moor would not be a breach of the condition. 

We look forward to discussing this when we meet later today. 



From: 
To: 
Cc: (Scotland}: 

vI ence 
Subject: RE: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privi leged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 
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Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

Restricted , Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only 

-
Many thanks for your email which we acknowledge and look forward to discussing later this 

afternoon. 

In relation to 1.1.2, we did provide a secondary opt ion in the comment margin which would not 

prejudice your ability to act in the circumstance you describe. I have reflected this amendment 

in red below for ease of reference and outlined the rationale below. 

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

1.1.2 takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates but the management of 
which is controlled by the licence holder. 

2. The species referred to at 1. 1. 1 of this condition are as follows: 

Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus), Red Kite (Milvus milvus), White-tailed Eagle (Ha/iaeetus albicil/a), 
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

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Grateful if this point 



could be given consideration ahead of our call at 1630.
 
I also note your reference to the legislative intent: “addressing the issues of raptor persecution
in the vicinity of grouse moors”. This being the case, we were surprised to see the Raven
(Corvus corax) referend in the species at 1.2 given it is clearly a corvid and not a raptor. It would
be useful to hear the rationale for this when we speak at 1630 and, in particular, whether
consideration might be given to removing it from the species list.
 
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
Sent: 20 September 2024 14:26
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>; 
 (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>

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
 
We believe that the condition as drafted is lawful, although we of course take account of what 

 says in his opinion and have been well advised as to the unpredictability of judicial review.  We are in
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
 

1. The licence holder shall not do any act, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that no person
within their employment or control shall do any act, for the purposes of or in relation to the
management of the land to which this licence relates which would be an offence under sections

-
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1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which:
 

1.1.1      involves any of the species mentioned at 1.2 of this condition; and
 

1.1.2      takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates.
 

2.    The species referred to at 1.1.1 of this condition are as follows:
 

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
buzzard (Buteo lagopus), Barn Owl (Tyto alba), Little Owl (Athene Noctua), Tawny Owl (Strix aluco), Long-
eared Owl (Asio otus), Short-eared Owl (Asio flammeus), Snowy Owl (Nyctea scandiaca), Raven (Corvus
corax)
 
 
The change at 1.1, is intended to address  “guarantee” point in respect of those in the
employ or control of the licence holder. We do not consider that concern arises in relation to the licence
holder’s own acts.
 
We have not included the change you have suggested at 1.1.2 because that would leave it open to a
licence holder to act or cause others to act contrary to those sections of the 1981 Act on land which they
do not own or occupy and for the purposes of managing the land to which the licence relates, without
breaching the conditions of the licence.  For example, the killing of an eagle by such persons on land
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
 
Kind Regards
 

 
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 2:30 PM
To:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

 < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

gillespiemacandrew.co.uk;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>; 
 (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>

Subject: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 
Importance: High

 
                               

Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Intended for Subject Holders Only
 
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
balance between safeguarding our members’ legal interests and delivering the policy objective
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

Licence text - grouse - DRAFT - 23.09.24 
2.5 September 2024 09:57:44 
Licence text - grouse - DRAFT - 23.09.24.docx 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

With some suggestions and comments. 

Kind regards, 

1111 

Please be aware of cyber-crime. 

Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: -

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G1 3PE 

We will not change bank account details during the course of a transaction. If you are due to transfer money to Harper Madeod and 
have received an e-mail with sort code and account details you should call your Harper Macleod contact to corroborate these details. 
Please use a phone number from our website or terms of engagement letter and not one from the same e-mail as contains the bank 
account details. For other advice on protection from cyber-crime, see the National Cyber Security Centre website. 

Please consider the environment before printing this email 

Harper Macleod LLP is limited liability partnership regulated by the Law Society of Scotland, whose registered number is S0300331 and 
whose registered office is at The Cadoro, 45 Gordon Street, Glasgow G1 3PE, United Kingdom. Information, conclusions, opinions 
and/or advice contained in this message (or its attachments) are not given or endorsed by Harper Macleod LLP, unless originating from 
Harper Macleod LLP and transmitted in the normal course of their business. This message (and its attachments) is confidential and 
subject to legal professional privilege, and may be exempt from disclosure requirements arising under applicable law. Use, disclosure, 
transmission, copying or alteration of this message (or its attachments) is strictly forbidden unless expressly authorised by Harper 
Macleod LLP. This message (and its attachments) are intended for the named addressee only. If you have received this message (or its 
attachments) in error please destroy it and all copies of it and notify the sender immediately. This message (and its attachments) have 
been scanned for viruses prior to leaving the Harper Macleod LLP network, however Harper Macleod LLP does not guarantee that this 
message (or its attachments) will be free from viruses, malicious code or such like. Harper Macleod LLP may process (including monitor) 
emails sent or received by it to enable it to comply with applicable law, operate its business, and/or to protect it or its clients. 
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Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

Had a brief discussion with other colleagues on this and we think the proposed course of action 

would be preferable - provided it is permissible from the NatureScot perspective. 

• Issue written notice of the intent to modify licences. The modification will make clear that 

the "land on which certain birds [red grouse] may be taken or killed" will become the land 

to which the licence is to relate through modification. 

• The written notice will also make clear the following points: 

• Licence holders w ill have 14 days to resubmit maps if the "land on which red grouse 

may be taken or killed" is not accurately specified . 

• If previously submitted maps do accurately reflect "land on which red grouse may be 

taken or killed", no action will be required. In practice this will mean that the 

specified area shaded in blue will become the land to which the l icence is to relate, or 

-where a blue shaded area is not reflected - the specified boundary will become the 

land to which the licence is to relate. 

• Modify licences with the following wording after 14 days: "The land on which certain birds 

[red grouse} may be taken or killed is the area of land to which this licence relates for the 

purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981." 

Shout if you need any further input from us and look forward to catching up next week. 

Best wishes, 

1111 

Scottish Land & Estates 
Stuart House Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M:- T: - W: srottisblandandestates conk Twittel': @Scotl.andEstates 

Follow us: l ■ j ~ ~ [j] [iJ 
Join today .. . 
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From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: 27 September 2024 08:51
To:  < nature.scot>
Subject: Re: In confidence - wording as discussed

 
Thanks  - yes, 1000 works for me. 
 

 
 

 
 
Scottish Land & Estates
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:   T:   W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates
 

From:  < nature.scot>
Sent: Friday, September 27, 2024 8:49:46 AM
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>
Subject: RE: In confidence - wording as discussed

 
Many thanks  How would 10am suit you for a chat?
 
Thanks,
 

 
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2024 10:32 PM
To:  < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: In confidence - wording as discussed
 

                                   

Hi 
 
Thanks for this and apologies for the delay in coming back to you – I am not long in the door
from parliament.
 
I understand the following wording is used on valid section 16AA licences: “The Landholding is
the area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.” I’m also aware that your current guidance and licence
application currently refers to the blue shaded area as: “areas over which you have the right to
kill or take grouse”.
 
However, the “area[s] over which you have the right to kill or take grouse” is not a phrase that is
used or recognised by the 2024 Act. Technically a landowner or occupier holds the right to kill
or take grouse over any land where they hold the sporting rights – irrespective of whether grouse
are actually present on said land or not.
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The phrase used in the Act is “land on which certain birds [red grouse] may be taken or killed”.
As we now understand, it is for the applicant to specify said area of land on which red grouse
may be taken or killed as the area of land to which the licence is to relate.
 
The salient point here is that the “area[s] over which you have the right to kill or take grouse”
(per your current guidance) and the “land on which certain birds may be taken or killed” (per the
Act) are, technically, two different things. You have asked licence holders to apply for licences
on the premise of the former – not the latter.
 
With this in mind, NatureScot will need to cease using the term “area[s] over which you have
the right to kill or take grouse”. Given this phrase was the premise on which licence holders
were erroneously asked to produce maps, you ideally need to ask licence holders to resubmit
maps which specify:
 

The land on which certain birds may be taken or killed, per 16AA(4)(c), in blue;
The landholding boundary, per 16AA(4)(d), in red.

 
The wording on all section 16AA licences should then read: “The land on which certain birds
[red grouse] may be taken or killed is the area of land to which this licence relates for the
purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.”
 
You might be able to get away with simply modifying licences to read what I’ve set out in the
above paragraph without requiring resubmission of maps, but technically people applied
having shaded “areas over which you have the right to kill or take grouse” in blue - which is not
strictly the same as “the land on which certain birds may be taken or killed”. To illustrate this,
some estates decided to not specify the former in blue at all – principally because they hold the
right to kill/take grouse over the full extent of the landholding, and felt there was no need to do
so. If initial guidance stipulated that “the land on which red grouse may be taken or killed” be
specified, some may have specified differently… 
 
I appreciate this is not what you will want to hear and manifestly more complicated than we all
envisaged. However, given what your current guidance says versus what we now understand, I
think all licence holders will need to resubmit maps clear in the knowledge of what they are
being asked to specify.
 
I’m around all day tomorrow except 1115-1200 and 1430-1600. Perhaps we should chat
through by teams? I am genuinely happy to help with this as much as I can and appreciate this
is both extremely complicated and onerous.
 
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
Sent: 26 September 2024 16:52
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>
Subject: In confidence - wording as discussed
 
Hi 
 
Thanks for calling me back. Proposed, draft explanation as discussed:
 
The area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the
1981 Act is the area specified by the licence holder on the map submitted with the licence
application as the area on which the licence holder has the right to kill or take red grouse
 
If you can let me know any comments that would be appreciated.
 
Thanks,
 

 | 
 NatureScot  | 
NatureScot  | 
 m: 

nature.scot | @nature_scot  | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba

 

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
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See below from  at SLE.
 

 | 
NatureScot |Great Glen House | Inverness | IV3 8NW | 01463
nature.scot | @nature_scot | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba

 
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2024 9:57 AM
To:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

 < nature.scot>
Cc:  < nature.scot>; 
< scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>;

 (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>
Subject: Re: Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition

 
                                  

 
Many thanks for sending this over. We will consider the detail of the licence condition
and revert back to you with our view. Sharing it in advance is appreciated so thank you
for that. 
 
Regarding the land to which the licence relates, I note your intention "to consult on a slightly
modified version of the scheme, in terms of which the perimeter of the area of land to which the licence
relates would be reduced to only the area on which the applicant intends to undertake licenced
activities".
 
I think we have been relatively clear that we need to see this matter resolved no later
than 15 September so we can protect the legal interests of our members. The 2024 Act
is absolutely clear on what is meant by the land to which the licence relates (per senior
counsel's opinion), so I am not clear on why wider consultation on this issue (if that is
what is intended) is necessary? This is a point of legal clarification and not a
consultative matter. 
 
Please could you confirm if licences will be modified (to ensure the land to which the
licence relates is the area the applicant has specified as being the area over which
certain birds are taken or killed) by 15 September.
 
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
Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2024 9:06 AM
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Cc:  < nature.scot>; 
< scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;  (Scotland)
< basc.org.uk>;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>
Subject: RE: Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition
 
Dear All,
 
We have received feedback from senior counsel and have summarised the proposals below. In drafting
these we have carefully considered feedback from stakeholders on the current scheme, particularly the
concerns expressed around the definition of the area of land to which the licence relates. In the hope of
alleviating those concerns, NatureScot intends to consult on a slightly modified version of the scheme, in
terms of which the perimeter of the area of land to which the licence relates would be reduced to only the
area on which the applicant intends to undertake licenced activities.
 
The modified scheme will also propose a licence condition along the following lines:
 

1                 Conditions relating to land management
 

1.1             The licence holder shall ensure that nothing is done for the purposes of or in relation to the
management of the land to which this licence relates, which would be an offence under
sections 1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which:

 

1.1.1         involves any of the species mentioned at 1.2 of this condition; and
 

1.1.2         takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates.
 

1.2             The species referred to at 1.1.1 of this condition are as follows:
 
            [Raptors etc.]
 
We will be consulting more widely on these modifications but would welcome any comments you may
have at this stage. We will have an opportunity to discuss this and hear your views at
tomorrow’s meeting.
 
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

 
Hello 
 
Many thanks for this update and explanation of your position and for the quick catch up
earlier. As discussed, we are awaiting feedback from senior counsel and we will update you
tomorrow morning as soon as we can.
 
Many thanks,
 

 
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2024 1:18 PM
To:  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>
Cc:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

 < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;  (Scotland)
< basc.org.uk>;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>
Subject: Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition

 
                                

Dear  & 
 
I hope this finds you well. At our last catch-up meeting on the matter regarding the land
to which the licence relates, you kindly offered to give us advanced sight of the
proposed new condition so that we might consult senior counsel and form a view. We
have been working on the understanding that the licence condition and the modification
to existing licences to amend the land to which the licence relates would be
implemented simultaneously, although please do advise if that is in fact not the case. 
 
We also made clear following that discussion that we required the matter to be resolved
no later than 15 September due to the timescales associated with judicial review, but
on the understanding that litigation would likely not be required provided the matter is
voluntarily resolved. 
 
Assuming the intent is to modify licences and bring about both of the above changes,
this does not leave us with much time to take a view on the licence condition and I'd ask
for an update at your earliest convenience please. We would also be grateful if you
could set out the timescale with regards to making the changes to the land to which the
licence relates, and in particular whether this change will be made by 15 September. 
 
Looking forward to hearing from you.
 
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

Thanks -

RE: Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition 

12 September 2024 14:51:00 

(Scotjand);- (Evjdence) 

Fo llowing on from ou r quick chat just now and to keep everyone else in the loop here is a 

response to your po ints below. As you know, NatureScot has taken account of the opin ion 

of senior counsel instructed by SLE as part of our consideration of stakeholder concerns. 

Whilst we have not conceded that t he definition of the " land to wh ich t he licence relates" 

used in the current scheme is unlawful we are proposing an amendment to simplify the 

process for applicants, by removing t he need for them to identify two or more areas of 

land in their app lication. 

The proposed change wi ll involve modifying existing licences so t hat the area of land to 

which the licence relates shall be the area upon which the licenced activity is to take place. 

We also propose to add the condit ion outlined below added to the licence conditions. As 

we understand it , this will satisfy concerns around the definition of the area of land to 

which the licence relates. 

We wil l not be in a position to ·implement these changes by 15 September, but our 

intention is for the modifications to take effect as soon as possib le. 

I understand from speaking to you that t he significance of 15th September is to ensure that 

all possible scenarios are covered wi th respect to the beginning of the 3 months within 

which a challenge can be made. However, we wou ld we lcome further clarity to ensure 

common understanding. As Section 16AA did not come into force until 22 Ju ly 2024, our 

understanding is that the challenges SLE has to the current scheme can be made wi thin 3 

months, which would take us to 21 October 2024. 

Kind Regards, 

■ 

From: - ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2024 9:57 AM 

--nature.scot>; 
nature.scot> 

ure.scot>; 

~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; - (Scotland) 

nature.scot>; 

~ basc.org.uk>; (Evidence) ~ basc.org.uk> 
Subject: Re: Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition 



Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

-
Many thanks for sending th is over. We will consider the detail of the licence condition 

and revert back to you with our view. Sharing it in advance is appreciated so thank 

you for that. 

Regarding the land to which the licence relates, I note your intention "to consult on a 
sl ightly modified version of the scheme, in terms of which the perimeter of the area of land to which 
the licence relates would be reduced to only the area on which the applicant intends to undertake 
licenced activities". 

I think we have been relat ively clear t hat we need to see this matter resolved no later 

than 15 September so we can protect the legal interests of our members. The 2024 

Act is absolutely clear on what is meant by the land to which t he licence relates (per 

senior counsel's opinion}, so I am not clear on why wider consultation on th is issue (if 

that is what is intended} is necessary? This is a point of legal c larif ication and not a 

consultat ive matter. 

Please could you confirm if licences will be modified (to ensure the land to which the 

licence relates is t he area the applicant has specified as being the area over which 

certa in birds are taken or ki lled} by 15 September. 

Best wishes, 

-
Scottish Land & Estates 
Stuart House, F..<ikmills Business Parl-., Musselburgh EH2l 7PB 
M: - T: W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter·: @ScotLandEstates 

From: nature.scot> 

Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2024 9:06 AM 

To:---1-s ~~-~~~-
nature.scot>; 

Cc: . 

._scottish la .uk>;- (Scotland) 

--basc.org.uk>; (Evidence) --basc.org.uk> 

Subject: RE : Section 16AA Licence Area & Condition 

Dear All, 



 
We have received feedback from senior counsel and have summarised the proposals below. In
drafting these we have carefully considered feedback from stakeholders on the current scheme,
particularly the concerns expressed around the definition of the area of land to which the licence
relates. In the hope of alleviating those concerns, NatureScot intends to consult on a slightly modified
version of the scheme, in terms of which the perimeter of the area of land to which the licence relates
would be reduced to only the area on which the applicant intends to undertake licenced activities.
 
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
earlier. As discussed, we are awaiting feedback from senior counsel and we will update
you tomorrow morning as soon as we can.
 
Many thanks,
 

• 

-



• 
From: - ~ scottishlandandestates.co.ub 
Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 20241:18 PM 

To: ~ nature.scot>; 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc: nature.scot>; ~ nature scot>; 
--scottishlandandestates.co.ub ; - (Scotland) 

~ basc.org.ub ; (Evidence) ~ base org ub 
Subject: Section 16M Licence Area & Condition 

Dear_ &_ 

I hope this finds you well. At our last catch-up meeting on the matter regarding the 

land to which the licence relates, you kindly offered to give us advanced sight of the 

proposed new condition so that we might consult senior counsel and form a view. 

We have been working on the understanding that the licence condition and the 

modification to existing licences to amend the land to which the licence relates 

would be implemented simultaneously, although please do advise if that is in fact 

not the case. 

We also made clear following that discussion that we required the matter to be 

resolved no later than 15 September due to the timescales associated with judicial 

review, but on the understanding that litigation would likely not be required provided 

the matter is voluntarily resolved. 

Assuming the intent is to modify licences and bring about both of the above changes, 

this does not leave us with much time to take a view on the licence condition and I'd 

ask for an update at your earliest convenience please. We would also be grateful if 

you could set out the timescale with regards to making the changes to the land to 

which the licence relates, and in particular whether th is change will be made by 15 

September. 

Looking forward to hearing from you. 

With best wishes, 

-
Scottish Land & Estates 
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M: - T: W : scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates 



From:
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Modification process
Date: 02 October 2024 09:04:00
Attachments: ~WRD0000.jpg

Hi 
 
Many thanks for your advice on this. As discussed on the phone I’ve edited the text further to
reflect the wording and meaning in the Act that it is up to the licence holder to ‘specify the area
of land to which the licence will relate’ and that this is area is the ‘land over which red grouse
may be killed or taken’:
 
“The area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the 1981 Act is
the area specified by the licence holder on the map submitted with the licence application as the area on
which red grouse may be taken or killed”
 
The steps we propose to take to make this modification are:
 
STEP 1: Proactively inform the licence holder that their licences will be modified
Send an email to all licence holders letting them know that their licences will be modified, the reasons for the
modification and when the modification will happen. Let them know that they can resubmit a map if they
would like to within a specified deadline (2/3 weeks). The email will explain that if previously submitted maps
accurately reflect “land on which red grouse may be taken or killed”, they will not be required to take any
action. However, if they believe that their map does not reflect this new definition they can submit a new
map. For the maps already submitted the area shaded in blue or the smaller area (where two boundaries
have been supplied) will become the land to which the licence is to relate.

 
STEP 2: Licences are modified and new maps (where submitted) added
Licensing officers will upload the new maps where they have been supplied by the licence
holder. The new condition and revised text re the area to which the licence relates are inserted
into all licences.
 
STEP 3: Send out notification that licence will be modified in 14 days and modified licence
Send an email to all licence holders letting them know that their licences have been modified
and that the modification will come into effect in 14 days. The guidance on the website will be
updated at this point. These modified licences will include the changed definition of the
boundaries.  
 
STEP 4: Modification takes effect
 
Can you confirm that this approach fits the legislative requirements?
 
Many thanks,
 

From:  < harpermacleod.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2024 2:19 PM
To:  < nature.scot>
Subject: FW: Modification process

.. 
-

• --



Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

1111 

Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: -

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon Street Glasgow G1 3PE 

From: --nature.scot> 

Sent: Wednesday, September 25, 2024 3:43 PM 

To: - --harpermacleod.co .uk> 

Subject: RE : Modificat ion process 

Thanks once again for these details. I'm hoping you can help with a couple of points for clarity: 

• Maps - Description of which boundary on a map will be the area to which the licence 

relates 

The proposed revised text explains that the relevant boundary is that wh ich relates to 



From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Date: 

RE: Modifying licences to take or kill grouse 
03 October 2.024 16:12:01 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

{Evidence} 

___ ] 
Thank you for informing us in advance about NatureScot's plans to modify the licences 
issued under section 16AA of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 ('the Act') and for 
confirming the intention to add a new condition to all licences. 

The British Association for Shooting and Conservation (BASC) appreciates the effort to 
revise the definition of "land to which the licence relates." It is crucial that key aspects of 
the licensing scheme align with, and accurately reflect, the provisions of the Act. This 
modification should ensure that alignment moving forward. 

We recognise NatureScot's plan to introduce a new licence condition and acknowledge 
the changes made to the initial draft, which we previously deemed unlawful. 

Whilst we reserve our position on this matter, we must highlight that it not in our power 
to prevent or restrict our members from exploring any legal options available to them. 
We look forward to continued positive engagement as these changes are being 
implemented. 

Thank you once again for the advance notice regarding these modifications. 

Best, -From: ~ nature.scot> 

Sent: 30 September 202411:26 

To: - ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

--scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; - (Scotland) 

~ basc.org.uk>; (Evidence) ~ basc.org.uk> 

Cc: nature.scot>; 

nature.scot>; nature.scot> 

Subject: Modifying licences to take or kil l grouse 

Dear All, 

Following on from discussions, please find below a statement on the intention to modify 

16M licences: 

NatureScot will modify the licences to take or kill grouse, issued under section 16AA of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. These modifications will provide a new definition of 

"land to which the licence relates". The new definition will be the area of land which the 

licence holder specifies as the area on which they will undertake the permitted activities 

(as opposed to the wider landholding which is the position under the existing licences). At 

the same time, a new condition will be introduced to ensure that the key aim of legislation -



the reduction in raptor persecution in the vicinity of grouse moors – will remain at the core
of the licensing regime.
 
We will continue to discuss the timeframe of when this will be in place and can pick up on
this at our meeting on Wednesday morning.
 
Kind regards,
 

 
 | 

 NatureScot  | 
NatureScot  | 
 m: 

nature.scot | @nature_scot  | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba

 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to
whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify the system manager or the sender. 
Please note that for business purposes, outgoing and incoming emails from and to NatureScot may be monitored.

Tha am post-dealain seo agus fiosrachadh sam bith na chois dìomhair agus airson an neach no buidheann ainmichte a-
mhàin. Mas e gun d’ fhuair sibh am post-dealain seo le mearachd, cuiribh fios dhan manaidsear-siostaim no neach-
sgrìobhaidh.
Thoiribh an aire airson adhbharan gnothaich, ‘s dòcha gun tèid sùil a chumail air puist-dealain a’ tighinn a-steach agus a’
dol a- mach bho NàdarAlba.

Disclaimer: This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended
solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have
received this email in error please notify me at basc.org.uk then delete it.
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
Conservation. BASC can confirm that this email message and any attachments have been
scanned for the presence of computer viruses but recommends that you make your own
virus checks. Registered Society No.: 28488R. Registered Office: Marford Mill, Rossett,
Wrexham, LL12 0HL. BASC is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority ref 311937.

• 



From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

RE: Modifying licences to take or kill gmuse 
03 October 2024 15:41:12 
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image006.png 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

(Evidence) 

Thank you tor advanced notification of NatureScot's intent to modify licences issued under 

section 16AA of the Wi ldlife and Countryside Act 1981 ('the Act'), and for confirming 

NatureScot's intention to impose a new condition on all l icences. 

Scottish Land & Estates (SLE) welcomes the intent ion to modify licences by revising the 

definition of what constitutes "land to which the licence relates". It is important that critical 

components of the licensing scheme accurately reflect the provisions of the Act, and this 

modification ought to ensure that this will be the case going forward. 

SLE acknowledges NatureScot's intention to introduce a new licence cond ition. We also 

recognise and acknowledge the amendments that have been made to the initial draft of the 

condition which we considered unlawful. However, we reserve our position on this matter and 

we must be clear that we cannot bind ou r members not to pursue any legal avenue open to 

them when the condition is attached to licences. 

SLE will continue to engage with you constructively as these changes are progressed. Thank 

you again to r advanced notification of these changes. 

Best wishes, 

1111 

Scottish Land & Estates 
Smart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M: - T W: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates 

Follow us: [~ liJ ~ liJ [i] 
Join today ... 

■ 

From: nature.scot> 



Sent: 30 September 2024 11:26
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< scottishlandandestates.co.uk>;  (Scotland) < basc.org.uk>;

 (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>
Cc:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

 < nature.scot>
Subject: Modifying licences to take or kill grouse
 
Dear All,
 
Following on from discussions, please find below a statement on the intention to modify 16AA
licences:
 
NatureScot will modify the licences to take or kill grouse, issued under section 16AA of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. These modifications will provide a new definition of “land to
which the licence relates”. The new definition will be the area of land which the licence holder
specifies as the area on which they will undertake the permitted activities (as opposed to the
wider landholding which is the position under the existing licences).  At the same time, a new
condition will be introduced to ensure that the key aim of legislation – the reduction in raptor
persecution in the vicinity of grouse moors – will remain at the core of the licensing regime.
 
We will continue to discuss the timeframe of when this will be in place and can pick up on this
at our meeting on Wednesday morning.
 
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

-- --

• 



Kind regards, 

1111 

Fax: 0141 229 7148 

Mob: -

The Ca'd'oro 45 Gordon street Glasgow G I 3PE 

From: ~ nature.scot> 

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

The proposed revised text explains that the relevant boundary is that which relates to 

the area where the permitted act ivities will take place. Will this description work for 

Licences that have maps with 2 boundaries but where there is not an explicit 

label/legend stating what each boundary re lates to? 

• Timing of providing the modified licence 

When does the licence holder need to receive the mod ified licence? Is it after the 14 

days notice period or at the same time but with a clear explanation that the 

modifications won't come into effect until 14 days later? 

Many t hanks, 

-
From: - ~ harpermacleod .co.uk> 

Sent: Wednesday, September 25, 2024 9:42 AM 



 

MODIFYING LICENCES FOR LAND WHICH MAY BE USED 
TO TAKE OR KILL RED GROUSE  

 
BRIEFING TO LICENCING OFFICERS, WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT OFFICERS AND 

OPERATION OFFICERS 
 
Background 

• The Wildlife Management and Muirburn (Scotland) Act 2024 introduced the 
requirement for anyone wanting to take or kill red grouse to need a licence 

• This licence will be for the land to which the licenced activity will take place, therefore 
will apply over land where red grouse may be killed or taken, this may not always 
apply to an entire property and may only apply to part of a property.  

• The licence is intended to be a deterrent for wildlife crime, and as such can be 
revoked or modified in the event of a relevant crime being committed.  

• If revoked, this would mean no red grouse can be killed or taken on that licensed 
area. 

 
Changes to licences 

• All existing licences will be modified in two ways 
1. the description of the land to which the licence relates 

 This will mean it is up to the applicant to define what area of land will 
be licenced and a wider land holding boundary will no longer be 
required. We expect this area to be extent of any grouse moor on a 
property.  

 i.e. we will no longer require a red and blue boundary, instead we will 
only require a map outlining the area the taking or killing of grouse will 
be licenced 

 
 

2. inserting a new condition 
 This will require the licence holder or anyone under their control or 

employment to not commit any offences related to raptors in 
connection with the management of the grouse moor out with the area 
covered by the licence.  

• A letter notifying the licence holders that their licences have been modified along with 
a modified licence will be issued in early November. 

• The modification will take effect 14 days later (as per the Act).  
 

How will we let licence holders know about these changes 
We will be sending out an email on Wednesday 9th October letting licence holders know that 
their licences will be modified, how and why. This email will also let licence holders know 
that they can provide a new map should they wish to. If they don’t we will assume that the 
area covered by the licence will be the smaller area on maps supplied with two boundaries 
and the whole area where there is one boundary. If a licence map shows multiple distinct 
polygons and is not clearly labelled indicating where the licence will apply, we will need to 
directly contact the licence holder or key contact to identify the correct boundary.   
 
How will we let other stakeholders and those interested know about these changes 
We will put a short, factual explanation of the proposed changes on the landing page for the 
grouse licences on the NatureScot website. We will add this content on Thursday 10th 
October.  



 

 
Why are we making changes 
 To ensure licences are lawful and legally compliant. 
 Legal advice identified that it is the applicant's responsibility to specify the area the 

licence should relate. 
 The new condition will be in place to maintain the policy intent of the legislation.  
  

Media 
Key messages and lines to take have been prepared 
(https://naturescot.nexus.objective.co.uk/documents/A4764121/details) 
Please ensure that    and  are made aware of any communications from 
the public regarding these changes.  --■ -



 

DRAFT -  4th October 
 
Red grouse: Upcoming changes 
 
Dear ((Name)), 
 
We are writing to let you know that we will soon be modifying all licences for land over which 
red grouse may be killed or taken.  
 
You will receive an official notice per section 16AA(10)(a) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 and a modified licence in due course. The changes will take effect 14 days after the 
official notice has been issued (in line with legislation). 
 
In this upcoming modification, we will:  

• change the definition of the land to which your licence relates 
• add a new condition around wildlife crime 

 
Land to which the licence relates 
 
The modified definition of land will mean that we will no longer require the landholding 
boundary. Instead, we will only need the boundary over which you ‘may kill or take red 
grouse’. We expect this to be the extent of the grouse moor. This is likely be the smaller area 
outlined on the map which you submitted with your application (if you submitted two 
boundaries).  
 
You do not need to do anything. If you submitted two boundaries on the map in your initial 
application, NatureScot will modify your licence so that the smaller area automatically 
becomes the land to which the licence relates. However, if the smaller boundary does not 
accurately specify the area over which red grouse may be taken or killed, you should submit 
a new map.  
 
However, you may submit a new map if you wish to do so. You must do this before Friday 
25th October 2024. 
 
Map guidance 
 
The map must specify the area over which red grouse may be killed or taken. 
 
We advise you use Ordnance Survey mapping (for example OS 1:25,000 or 1:50,000) and 
apply a scale bar to the map. 
 
The file must be smaller than 10MB. Suggested file types include PDF, JPEG and PNG.  
 
Submit your updated map with your licence number via email to licensing@nature.scot  
 
Wildlife crime 
 
The second change we will be making is to insert a new condition around wildlife crime. This 
condition will require the licence holder to take reasonable steps to ensure that they, or 
anyone under their control or employment, do not commit an offence in relation to raptors. 
 
This condition will apply outside of the licensed area but only where offences committed are 
related to management of the grouse moor.   
 

I _ 



 

These changes will ensure our red grouse licences are legally robust, while continuing to act 
as a strong deterrent to wildlife crime as was the legislation's intent. 
 
Regards, 
 
Name / NatureScot Licensing 
 
NatureScot | Great Glen House | Leachkin Road | Inverness | IV3 8NW | t: 01463 725364 
NàdarAlba | Taigh a’ Ghlinne Mhòir | Rathad na Leacainn | Inbhir Nis | IV3 8NW 
nature.scot – Scotland’s Nature Agency – Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba – @nature_scot 
 
 
 



 

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
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{Scotland): /Evidence) 

IN CONFIDENCE DRAFT not for use until signed off - Email to licence holders re grouse modifications DRAFT 4th 
October 2024 (A4766829) - SLE-BASC Comments.docx 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

-
Thanks for this and for the call. I attach the draft email with some small suggestions from SLE 

and BASC for consideration. 

As discussed on our call, two of these are minor additions which hopefully you will find 

agreeable. 

] 

The more substantive change is in relation to the resubmission of maps. We believe this 

process could be made more streamlined for licence holders and NatureScot if there was a 

presumption in favour of reverting to the smaller boundary where two boundaries have been 

reflected on existing maps. This is bolstered by a statement making clear that a map should be 

resubmitted if the boundaries (or boundary) reflected do not accurately specify the area of land 

on which grouse may be taken or killed. 

Grateful if you could consider these points and return a finalised version of the draft email to 

enable us construct member comms. 

Best wishes, 

-
Scottish Land & Estates 
Stuait House, Eskmills Business Pru.'k, Musselburg:h EH21 7PB 
M: - T W: scottishlanda.ndestates.co.uk Twitte1·: @ScotLandEstates 

Follow us: ~ [iJ ~ ~ [iJ 

Join today ... 

L ■ 

From: nat ure.scot> 

Sent : 04 October 2024 11:35 

I 

_J 



To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;  (Scotland)
< basc.org.uk>;  (Evidence) < basc.org.uk>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Catch Up - NS/SLE/BASC

 
Dear All,
 
Ahead of our catch up shortly please see the draft email, in confidence, to licence holders re
the upcoming modifications to the licences.
 
Thanks,
 

 

 
 
-----Original Appointment-----
From:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 
Sent: Thursday, October 3, 2024 1:51 PM
To:      (Scotland); 
(Evidence)
Cc:  
Subject: Catch Up - NS/SLE/BASC
When: 04 October 2024 12:00-12:45 (UTC+00:00) Dublin, Edinburgh, Lisbon, London.
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting

 
                    

 
________________________________________________________________________________

Microsoft Teams Need help?

For organizers: Meeting options
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

-- -- --

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
Stuait House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburg:h EH21 7PB 

:l:l~~=rlf i ttishlanda.ndestates.co.uk Twitte1•: @ScotLandEstates 

Join today ... 

L ■ 

From: nat ure.scot> 

Sent: 04 October 2024 11:35 

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



 

 
Summary of position with grouse licences and process to modify them for  -  
3rd October 2024  
 
Position 
We have taken the decision to modify the licences for land over which red grouse may be 
killed or taken following on from legal advice on what is permissible under the Wildlife 
Management and Muirburn Act. 
 
What problem are we looking to address? 
The current licence application asks for a map showing the land holding boundary and area 
over which the applicant has the right to take or kill red grouse. However, the Act states that 
it is up to the applicant to ‘specify the area to which the licence should relate’. We initially 
asked for the landholding boundary so that we could act where there were instances of 
relevant offences outwith the area over which grouse were shot.   
 
What changes will be making?  
We will be making two changes to the licences: 
 
1) new definition of the land to which the licence relates; and  
2) inserting a new condition around wildlife crime (see below).  
 
The definition of the area to which the land relates will be changed from the landholding to 
the area specified by the applicant as that over which red grouse may be killed or taken.  
 
The new condition around wildlife crime will allow us to suspend or revoke licences where 
there are offences related to raptor persecution which are connected to the grouse moor 
committed outside of the licensed area by the licence holder or anyone within their control or 
employment. We won’t be able to revoke or suspend licences outwith the licensed area for 
the other relevant offences listed in the Act – only in relation to offences in connection with 
raptors.  
 
Process to modify licences  
The following steps will be taken to modify the grouse licences: 
 
STEP 1: Proactively inform the licence holder that their licences will be modified 
Send an email to all licence holders letting them know that their licences will be modified, the 
reasons for the modification and when the modification will happen. Let them know that they 
can resubmit a map if they would like to. 
 
STEP 2: Licences are modified and new maps (where submitted) added 
Licensing officers will upload the new maps where they have been supplied by the licence 
holder. The new condition and revised text re the area to which the licence relates are 
inserted into all licences.  
 
STEP 3: Send out notification that licence has been modified and modified licence 
Send an email to all licence holders letting them know that their licences have been modified 
and that the modification will come into effect in 14 days.  
 
STEP 4: Modification takes effect 
Modification will take effect.  
 
Comms plan  
Key messages and lines to take have been drafted and are awaiting sign off. Staff will be 
informed of these with further briefing provided for Licensing Officers, WMOs and Area staff. 

-



 

These key messages are short and factual and summarise why the changes are being made 
and what the changes are.  
 
 
Why: To ensure the licences are legally compliant and help to meet the policy intention.  
What: We will no longer require the landholding boundary instead it will be up to the 
applicant to specify the area to which the licence relates. We will also be introducing a new 
condition which requires the licence holder or someone under their control or employment 
not to commit any offences related to raptors in connection with the management of the 
grouse moor outwith the area covered by the licence. 
When: We are looking to issue modified licences by the beginning of November (tbc) 
How: Modified licences will explain the new definition of land to which the land relates and 
will include an additional condition on wildlife crime. Modified licences will be issued to 
licence holders through the on-line system. 
 
 
 
Proposed new condition to be added to licences 
  

1.1 The licence holder shall not do any act, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that no 
person within their employment or control shall do any act, for the purposes of or in 
relation to the management of the land to which this licence relates which would be an 
offence under sections 1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which: 

  
1.1.1      involves any of the species mentioned at 1.2 of this condition; and 

  
1.1.2      takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates.  

  
1.2    The species referred to at 1.1.1 of this condition are as follows: 

  
Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus), Red Kite (Milvus milvus), White-tailed Eagle (Haliaeetus albicilla), 
Eurasian Marsh Harrier (Circus aeruginosus), Hen Harrier (Circus cyaneus), Northern Goshawk 
(Accipiter gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus), Common Buzzard (Buteo buteo), Golden 
Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos), Osprey (Pandion haliaetus), Common Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus), Merlin 
(Falco columbarius), Eurasian Hobby (Falco Subbuteo), Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus), Rough-
legged buzzard (Buteo lagopus), Barn Owl (Tyto alba), Little Owl (Athene Noctua), Tawny Owl (Strix 
aluco), Long-eared Owl (Asio otus), Short-eared Owl (Asio flammeus), Snowy Owl (Nyctea 
scandiaca), Raven (Corvus corax) 
 



From: -To: AI WIL Dt IEE MANAGEMENT; 
Cc: --Subject: Briefing on upcoming changes to Grouse Licences 

Date: OB October 2.024 11:08:08 

Hi Folks, 

Please read the briefing paper li nked below regarding the modifi cations to Grouse licences. This 

wi ll provide everyone w ith information to respond to any queries you may get once licence 

holders are notif ied on 9th October. 

If you need anymore informat ion, please get in touch with me or. Find lay. 

Briefing paper - Grouse licence changes - 04 October 2024 (A4766287) 

Cheers, 

·-NatureScot I lnverdee House I Aberdeen I AB11 9QA I 
nature.scot I @nature_scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



DRAFT NOT FOR CIRCULATION - 8th October 

Red grouse: Upcoming changes 

Upcoming changes to your licence 

Following legal guidance, we will soon be modifying all licences for the killing or taking of red 
grouse. 

The modifications will include: 
- a change to the definition of the area of land to which your licence relates 
- a new condition relating to the prevention of raptor persecution 

We are writing to you at this stage to give you the opportunity to provide us with updated 
information about the area of land to which your licence relates. 

For the avoidance of any doubt, this letter is not a written notice of modification for the 
purposes of 16AA(10)(a) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Act (the '1981 Act'), which 
will be issued in due course. 

Area of land to which the licence relates 

The modified definition of the area of land to which the licence relates will mean that we will 
no longer require the landholding boundary. Instead, we will only need the boundary of land 
over which you 'may kill or take red grouse'. We expect this to be the extent of the grouse 
moor. 

The map which will be included on your modified licence will depend on the content of the 
map you submitted with your initial application. 

If you only specifiediElentif.ied 1 boundary on the map submitted with your initial application, 
then your original, unaltered map, will be included on the modified licence. 

If you specifiediElentifieEl 2 boundaries on the map submitted with your initial application, we 
will specify the smaller area as the area of land to which the licence relates. That map will be 
included on your modified licence. 

In either case, if you consider that the map which you have submitted with your initial 
application does not accurately specifySRGW the area of land over which you intend to kill or 
take red grouse, then you can submit a new map. The new map will then be included on 
your modified licence. 

If you wish to submit a new map, you must do this before Friday 25th October 2024. 

Map guidance 

Any new map must specify the area over which red grouse may be killed or taken. 

We advise you use Ordnance Survey mapping (for example OS 1 :25,000 or 1 :50,000) and 
apply a scale bar to the map. 

The file must be smaller than 10MB. Suggested file types include PDF, JPEG and PNG. 

Submit your updated map with your licence number via email to licensinq@nature.scot 



Wildlife crime 

The second change we will be making is to insert a new condition relating to the prevention 
of raptor persecution. This condition will require the licence holder to take reasonable steps 
to ensure that they, or anyone under their control or employment, do not commit an offence 
in relation to raptors. 

This condition will apply outside of the licensed area but only where offences committed are 
related to management of the grouse moor. 

Regards, 

NatureScot Licensing 

NatureScot I Great Glen House I Leachkin Road I Inverness I IV3 8NW It: 01463 725364 
NadarAlba I Taigh a' Ghlinne Mhoir I Rathad na Leacainn I lnbhir Nis I IV3 8NW 
nature.scot - Scotland's Nature Agency - Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba - @nature_scot 



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
no longer require the landholding boundary. Instead, we will only need the boundary over 
which you 'may kill or take red grouse'. We expect this to be the extent of the grouse moor. 

The map which will be included on your modified licence will depend on the content of the 
map you submitted with your initial application. 

If you only identified 1 boundary on the map submitted with your initial application, then your 
original, unaltered map, will be included on the modified licence. 

If you identified 2 boundaries on the map submitted with your initial application, we will 
specify the smaller area as the area of land to which the licence relates. That map will be 
included on your modified licence. 

In either case, if you consider that the map which you have submitted with your initial 
application does not accurately show the area of land over which you intend to kill or take 
red grouse, then you can submit a new map. The new map will then be included on your 
modified licence. 

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



 

DRAFT -  8th October 
 
[Subject line:] Red grouse: Upcoming changes 
 
[H1] Upcoming changes to your licence 
 
Following legal guidance, we will soon be modifying all licences for the killing or taking of red 
grouse.  
 
The modifications will include: 
- a change to the definition of the are of land to which your licence relates 
- a new condition around relating to the prevention of raptor persecutionwildlife crime 
 
We are writing to you at this stage to give you the opportunity to provide us with updated 
information about the area of land to which your licence relates.   
 
For the avoidance of any doubt, this letter is not a written notice of modification for the 
purposes of 16AA(10)(a) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Act (the ‘1981 Act’), which 
will be issued in due course. 
 
[H2] Area of Lland to which the licence relates 
 
The modified definition of the area of land to which the licence relates will mean that we will 
no longer require the landholding boundary. Instead, we will only need the boundary over 
which you ‘may kill or take red grouse’. We expect this to be the extent of the grouse moor.  
 
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
 
If you identified 2 boundaries on the map submitted with your initial application, we will add a 
legend label to that map which will specify the smaller area as the area of land to which the 
licence relates. That map, with the legend label added, will be issued withincluded on your 
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
 
[H3] Map guidance 
 
Any new map must specify the area over which red grouse may be killed or taken, which 
should be the perimeter of the relevant grouse moor. 
 
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



■J Wildlife crime 

The second change we wi ll be making is to insert a new condition relatmg to the oreventIon 
of raptor oersecutionafe1,md wilEl life srime. This condition will require the licence holder to 
take reasonable steps to ensure that they, or anyone under their control or employment, do 
not commit an offence in relation to raptors-. 

This condition will apply outside of the licensed area but only where offences committed are 
related to management of the grouse moor. 

Regards, 

NatureScot Licensing 

NatureScot I Great Glen House I Leachkin Road I Inverness I IV3 BNW I t: 01463 725364 
NadarAlba I Taigh a' Ghlinne Mhoir I Rathad na Leacainn I lnbhir Nis I IV3 8NW 
nature.scot - Scotland's Nature Agency - Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba -@nature_scot 
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Please find attached a draft email for circulation to licence holders to inform them about the 

upcoming changes to the grouse licences. We intend to send the email to all licence holders 

tomorrow to provide them wlth a heads up of the modification and to give them an opportunity 

to supply a new map. 

Thanks, 

• 
From: - ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Friday, October 4, 2024 12:58 PM 

To: ~ nature.scot>; - --nature.scot>;■ 
- --nature.scot>; - (Scotland) ._basc.org.uk>; -

(Evidence) basc.org.uk> 

scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

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
Thanks for this. We have distributed com ms to a limited list of members we know hold section 

16AA licences as discussed. 

I have also made some extremely minor amendments to your email which I hope is OK - all 

relates to a particular word used in the Act as you will see which I thought it best to carry across 

here. 

Best wishes, 

-
Scottish land & Estates 
Stuart House Eskmills Business Park, MusseThurgh EH21 7PB 
M : - T lV: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates 

Followus: l ■ J ~ ~ [i] l ■ J 
Join today ... 

■ 

From: nat ure.scot> 

Sent: 08 October 2024 11:31 

To:- --scottish landandestates.co.uk>;-

~ nature.scot>; - nature.scot>; - (Scotland) 

--basc.org.uk>; (Evidence} basc.org.uk> 

Cc: ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

natu re .scot> 

Subject: RE: Cat ch Up - NS/SLE/BASC 

Please find attached a draft email for circulation to licence holders to inform them about the 



■ 

From: nature.scot> 

Sent: 04 October 2024 11:35 

To: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

~ nature.s • ,~~== · - (Scotland) 

Cc: 

~ nature.scot> 

Subject: RE: Catch Up- NS/SLE/BASC 

Dear All, 

{Evidence) 

Ahead of our catch up shortly please see the draft email, in confidence, to licence holders re 

the upcoming modifications to the licences. 

Thanks, 

■ 

--Original Appointment-----

From: - --scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Thursday, October 3, 2024 1:51 PM 

To: - - {Scotland); 
(Evidence) 

Cc: 

Subject: Catch Up - NS/SLE/BASC 

When : 04 October 202412:00-12:45 (UTC+00:00) Dublin, Edinburgh, Lisbon, London. 

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
M : ___ '\>V: scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @Scotland.Estates 

Follow us: ~ ~ [i] [iJ I ■ I 
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

To:---scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; -

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

-Original Appointment---

From:---scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Thursday, October 3, 2024 1:51 PM 

To: - - {Scotland); 
(Evidence) 

Cc: 

Subject: Catch Up - NS/SLE/BASC 

When: 04 October 202412:00-12:45 (UTC+00:00) Dublin, Edinburgh, Lisbon, London. 

Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Microsoft Teams Need help? 



For organizers: Meeting options
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Date: 

RE: Briefing on upcoming changes to Grouse Licences 

09 October 2024 09:26:00 

These are very good points ! And I'm not sure we fully have the answers to some, but it would be 

good to pick these with you and go over the details! 

Cheers, 

·-NatureScot I lnverdee House I Aberdeen I AB11 90A I 
nature.scot I @nature_scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

From: @nature.scot> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 8, 2024 12:25 PM 

To: @nature.scot>; AT_WILDLIFE_MANAGEMENT 

<AT_WILDLIFE_MANAGEMENT@nature.scot>;-- nature.scot>; 
@nature.scot>; nature.scot>; 1111 

--nature.scot>; 

~ nature.scot>; 
Subject: RE: Briefing on upcoming changes to Grouse Licences 

Thanks for th is. 

@nature.scot> 

nature.scot>; 

nature.scot> 

I can foresee a few questions in relation to this. Do you have any steer on the following: 

• With regard to the new condition for raptor offences outside the licenced area, how 

it can be shown that an offence was committed in connection to the management of 

a grouse moor? 

• how will this apply where an organisation is t he named licence holder and the 

organisation does not control nor employ anyone directly on the land, or if they do, 

how can we show this? 

• Will the use of an organisation as the named licence holder also apply to future 

muirburn licences and trap licences, wh ich have the same terminology for "the 

licence holder" under the Act? If so, how will t he individual responsible be 

identifiable to enable criminal prosecution? 

Thanks 

-



NatureScot 

I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair no h-Alba 

From: @nature.scot> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 8, 2024 11:08 AM 

• MANAGE NT@nature.scot>;--

@nature scot>; ­

scot> 
nature.s 

nature.scot>; 

Subject: Briefing on upcoming changes to Grouse Licences 

Hi Folks, 

nature scot>; 

ture scot>; 
nature scot> 

Please read the briefing paper linked below regarding the modifications to Grouse licences. This 

will provide everyone with information to respond to any queries you may get once licence 

holders are notified on 9th October. 

If you need anymore information, please get in touch with me or·-

Briefing paper - Grouse licence changes - 04 October 2024 (A4 766287) 

Cheers, 

·-NatureScot I lnverdee House I Aberdeen I AB11 90A I 
nat ure.scot I @nature_scot I Scot land's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



From: 
To: 
Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

Importance: 

Francesca/Colin, 

Francesca Osowska; Col in Galbraith 

FW: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

18 July 2024 10:51 :00 
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High 

Just keeping you sighted on the ongoing discussions with SLE about Grouse Licences. 

I have had a couple of calls with . and - t his week, trying my best to accommodate some of their 

outstanding concerns, but I think the rea lity is there is only so much we can do. 

I have spoken to SG and officials are clear and supportive of our position . The M inister is also briefed 

and understands the issue, which in a nutshell is, if the licensable area is t oo small, then the policy 

intent of t he bi ll is not realised. 

Wi ll update you on SLE position tomorrow and happy to have a word if we need it 

Regards, -
nature .scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair no h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/h im I If you receive this email late at night or early in t he morning it means I am working flexibly but 
please do not feel that you have to pick th is up outside of your own norma I working hours. 

From: ~ scottishlanda ndestates.co.uk> 

Sent: 17 July 202415:13 

To: nat ure .scot>; -

~ scottish landandestates.co.uk> 

Cc:-~nature.scot>; 

nature.scot> 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NalureScol. 

Dear- et al 

natu re.scot>; 

I wanted to update you on discussions we are having internally and with legal advisers -we are 

await ing further advice from our KC and don't plan to issue any further guidance to members 

for the time being. 

We really appreciate the ongoing discussions and the acceptance of some of the points we 

have made, but our fundamental issue in relation to the area to which the licence relates 

remains . Therefore, our advice to members to delay applications is still in place . 

We will be in touch as soon as we receive further advice from the KC. Bothllll and I are off 

tomorrow but I am back online on Friday. 

Best regards 

I 

nature.scot> 

Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2024 4:02 PM 

To: - ~ scottishla ndandestates.co.uk>; 



~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Cc:---nature.scot>; 

nature .scot> 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Both, 

nature.scot>; 

I sa id I wou ld come back to you w ith some additional thoughts on the administrative bou ndary of the 

licence and t he need to continue to rational ise it. 

In principle, we accept that there w ill be areas within t he land holding bou ndary which are not 

subject to any land management activity, such as vi llages or areas assigned exclusively fo r ot her 

business or recreational use and we are therefore comfortable t hese should be exc luded from the 

licence application w here it is preferab le and/or easier fo r the applicant do so. 

On the subject of align ing applicat ions with sporting leases, it our view t hat in ce rtain circumstances, 

it maybe appro priat e for t he area of the sport ing lease to const it ute the area of land to which t he 

licence relates . Our expectation though is that t his wil l be the exception rather tha n the norm and w ill 

address those larger propert ies e.g. tc where the sporting beats are clearly 

defined and are almost akin to small estates in t heir own right. 

If there are any specific point of detai l t hat emerge, I wou ld encourage your members to contact■ 
and the tea m directly to work through them. 

I hope that's he lpful, in additional to the points made below and allows you to provide some 

reassurance to members. 

Kind Regards, -
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

Sent: 16 Ju ly 2024 12:45 

To:- ~ scottish landandestates.co.uk>; 

~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Cc:---□at11re scot>; 
nature .scot> 

Subject: RE: Follow Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Thank you for your emai l and t he discussion yeste rday. 

nat ure scot>; 

You will appreciate t hat Nat ureScot has take n lega l advice on our approach, including in rela t ion to 

the area of land to wh ich the licences w ill relate, and we are comfortable that the process is robust. 

However, it would obviously be better if we can find a solution t hat stakeholders are comfortable 

w ith, provided tha t it con t inues t o give effect to t he legisla t ive inten t ion . So, on that basis there are a 

number of t hings t hat we can do to address most, if not all, of t he concerns ra ised below: 

1.  

 

 

2.  

 

 

 

3. The perceived link between other types of game shooting (e.g., pheasant & red-legged 

partridge) and rapt or pe rsecution shou ld not be addressed by expa nding t he land to w hich the 



licence relates. It is on the parliamentary record that such a correla t ion wou ld be addressed by 

t he addition of said birds to schedule 2 part lB, at which point the land to which a section 

16AA licence would relate might reasona bly expand. -Agreed - that is not what we are 

proposing to do. This licence relates to Grouse Moor Management. 

4. A tenant cannot be reasonably expected to ensure compl iance with a code of practice over 

land to which they have no formal r ights (and vice-versa). -Agreed {although there is no 

obligation to ensure compliance) -so we will address this by changing the wording of the of the 

licence - Condition 2 of the Licence will be amended to state" You [as the Licence holder] must 

have regard for the code of practice httos://www.nature.scot/doc/guidance-code-practice­

grouse-moor-management 

5.  

 

 

 

  

 

6. A tenant may not possess a map illustrating the landholding boundary- this is understood, but 

surely not insurmountable in discussion with the owner? 

I accept that some of these changes may not allay your main concerns about licensable area, but as 

you know in the interest of efficiency of process and to enable all those who w ish t o shoot grouse the 

opportunity to do so at the start of the season on 12 August, we are offering an automated service 

which provides a default licence in which t he licensable area will be the land holding boundary as 

provided by t he appl icant. 

For applicants who are looking for a more nuanced licensable area (and I hope those are in the 

minority) t hen those individua ls w ill need to contact t he Licensing Team direct and we can manua lly 

assess the pro posed bespoke area. However, applicants wil l need to be made aware that the time 

involved in assessing a bespoke area mea ns they may not have t heir licence in place for the start of 

the grouse season, therefore it may be prudent to com mit to the adaptive approach you suggest 

below and over t ime and refine t he boundary to w hich the licence relates and we can modify t hose 

licences accordingly. 

Final ly, if any of your members are minded to appeal at this stage because t hey are not happy w ith 

the con ditions attached to th e licence that is issued - I wou ld have t hought that agree ment cou ld be 

reached that one appea l can be advanced and t hat we wil l adapt the scheme in accord ance with any 

decision as required. 

I hope that is helpful. We have some t ime scheduled to discuss th is afternoon and hopefully agree 

this as a way forward. 

Kind Regards, -
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-A/ba 

Pronouns: he/him I if you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working flexibly but 

please do not feel that you have to pick this up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: - ~ scottishlandandestates co uk> 

Sent: 15 July 2024 13:22 

To: nature.scot> 

Cc: ~ scottishlandandestates co uk>; -

--nature.scot> 

Subject: Fol low Up - Section 16AA Licensing 

Importance: High 



-Thanks for your time, and especially to you,_ for dialling on while on holiday. I and I 

spoke following our discussion and just wanted to follow-up with a couple of points. 

The first is that SLE's preferred opt ion by far would be to designate land managed for the 

purposes of killing / taking red grouse as the land to which the licence relates. This would 

be in line with the legislation and, crucially, would cover the commissioning of any relevant 

offences undertaken in pursuit of grouse moor management. If it would be of comfort to 

NatureScot to take an adaptive management approach - where the boundary of the land to 

which the licence relates relative to the commissioning of relevant offences by relevant 

persons is monitored - then we would be comfortable with that. Adopting this option would 

cause minimum disruption to what has already been prepared, and SLE would make clear in 

subsequent guidance that any land being managed for the purposes of killing/ taking red 

grouse should be shaded in blue, thereby constituting the land to which the licence will relate. 

This option is unlikely to result in any challenges to the Sheriff Court by prospective applicants, 

and would only require minor tweaking to NatureScot's existing guidance. 

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

eventuality, our legal advice suggests that any Sheriff would l ikely be sympathetic to the 

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

be addressed by the addition of said birds to schedule 2 part 1 B, at which point the land 

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

the purposes of killing/ taking red grouse would likely strike the right balance given where we 

are. It would also avoid an immediate rush of appeals which are likely to reverberate and 

undermine the confidence in the licensing scheme at-large. 

Happy to chat further on this and will issue guidance to members once your position is 

crystallised . 

Best w ishes, 



Scottish Land & Estates
Stuart House, Eskmills Business Park, Musselburgh EH21 7PB
M:  T:  scottishlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates

Follow us: 
Join today…
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

1111 

FW: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences 
18 July 2024 13:25:00 

Guidance for Members - Applying for t icences to Shoot Red Grouse pdf 
High 

we spoke - need to get our heads round the comms on this - so we are on the front foot where 

possible ... 

Happy to check in later with■t anti once you have had t ime to digest... 

I 

nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working 

flexibly but please do not feel t hat you have to pick t his up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Sent: 18 Ju ly 2024 11:42 

nature.scot>; 

nature.scot> 

Subject: FW: Update on Request to Delay Applicat ions for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

l!ed, as discussed. 
Kind regards, 

■■ 

ease e aware o cy er-cnme. 
We will not change bank account details during the course of a transaction. If you are due to transfer money to Harper Madeod and 
have received an e-mai l with sort code and account details you should ca ll your Harper Macleod contact to corroborate these 
details. Please use a phone number from our website or terms of engagement letter and not one from the same e-mail as contains 
the bank account details. For other advice on protection from cyber-crime, see the National Cyber Security Centre website. 

Please consider the environment before printing this email 

Harper Macleod LLP is limited liabi lity partnership regulated by the Law Society of Scotland, whose registered number is S0300331 
and whose registered office is at The Cadoro, 45 Gordon Street, Glasgow G1 3PE, United Kingdom. Information, conclusions, 
opinions and/or advice conta ined in this message (or its attachments) are not given or endorsed by Harper Macleod LLP, unless 
orig inating from Harper Macleod LLP and transmitted in the normal course of their business. This message (and its attachments) is 
confidential and subject to legal professional privi lege, and may be exempt from disclosure requirements arising under applicable 
law. Use, disclosure, transmission, copying or alteration of this message (or its attachments) is strictly forbidden unless expressly 
authorised by Harper Macleod LLP. This message (and its attachments) are intended for the named addressee only. If you have 
received this message (or its attachments) in error please destroy it and all copies of it and notify the sender immediately. This 



message (and its attachments) have been scanned for viruses prior to leaving the Harper Macleod LLP network, however Harper
Macleod LLP does not guarantee that this message (or its attachments) will be free from viruses, malicious code or such like.
Harper Macleod LLP may process (including monitor) emails sent or received by it to enable it to comply with applicable law,
operate its business, and/or to protect it or its clients.



a Scottish 
~ Land&Estates 
Summary: 

Applying for Licences to Shoot Red Grouse 
Guidance Released: 17 July 2024 

On Friday 12 July, Scottish Land & Estates (SLE) advised members to delay submitting applications for 
licences to shoot grouse ahead of the 12 August 2024. This was due to NatureScot changing its position on 
what would constitute the area of land to which the licence is to relate. 

The definition of the area of land to which the licence is to relate is important in the context of licensing grouse 
shooting for two reasons: 

• A relevant offence committed on the land to which the licence relates by a re1evant person could carry 
implications for the licence - including ncence suspension or revocation. 

• A licence holder who fails to have regard to the code of practice on the land to which the licence rel.ates 
could carry implications for the licence - including suspension or revocation 

This concise briefing sets out NatureScot's revised position and our preliminary guidance in relation to it. If 
you have any questions or queries, contact details for relevant SLE staff can be found at the bottom of the 
briefing. 

THE AREA OF LANO TO WHICH THE LICENCE IS TO RELATE 

NatureScot's Initial Position 

The initial position adopted by NatureScot was that land over which grouse are taken or killed would constitute the area 
of land to which the licence is to relate . In most cases, this would have covered land being managed for the purposes of 
shooting red grouse; or where red grouse could conceivably have been taken or killed. 

NalureScol produced an example map - see below - setting out what they expect of applicants . In it, you will note the 
full landholding boundary is denoted in red, while the area over which red grouse are taken or killed is shaded in blue. 
NalureScol confirmed verbally to SLE in the w/c 01 July and in writing in the w/c 08 July that the blue shaded area - i.e. , 
land over which grouse are taken or killed - would constitute the area of land to which the licence is to relate . NatureScot 
are entitled to ask for additional information (such as the landholding boundary) as part of the application, but the 
legislation states that it is for the applicant to specify the area of land to which the licence is to relate . 

1 
IMPORTANT NOTE: This information sheet reflects information reviewed at the time of its publication. Accordingly, account must always 
be taken of any relevant changes in law, policy or other circumstances since that time. It is for general information only and must never 
be relied upon as any substitute for appropriate professional advice, which should always be taken in any situation in which financial or 
other interests may be at stake. No liability can be accepted by Scottish Land & Estates or its employees for any misstatement in it or 
omission from it 



 
 

2 
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
omission from it. 

 
 

 
NatureScot’s Revised Position [as of 12 July 2024] 
 
On Friday 12 July 2024, NatureScot contacted SLE to clarify their position. NatureScot stated that the full landholding 
boundary (i.e., the red boundary above) would constitute the area of land to which the licence is to relate – even in 
circumstances where the majority of the landholding is managed for purposes other than grouse shooting, or where the 
sporting rights over part of said landholding had been assigned under the terms of a lease.  
 
Such a position would lead to an unacceptable situation where a sporting tenant could potentially be held accountable for 
the actions of others over land to which they have no formal rights or responsibility. Similarly, inclusion of parts of a 
landholding not being managed for grouse shooting could see relevant offences committed by relevant persons on said 
land carrying implications for the licence to shoot grouse. 
 
SLE’s Response 
 
Since Friday, SLE has been working back-channels to NatureScot to highlight the legal and practical implications of their 
revised position. We even took the unusual step of escalating the matter directly to the Minister for Agriculture and 
Connectivity, Jim Fairlie MSP, such was the extent to which we felt the goal posts had shifted. The upshot of those 
discussions is that NatureScot is standing by their revised position that the full landholding boundary (i.e., the red 
boundary above) will constitute the area of land to which the licence is to relate. This is clearly an unacceptable 
proposition and SLE is actively in the process of exploring options for challenging this. Unfortunately, the senior legal 
counsel we have sought advice from throughout this process,  is on annual leave until 29 July, so we 
will not have a clear picture on how legally and strategically best to proceed until the w/c 29 July.   
 
GUIDANCE ON HOW YOU SHOULD PROCEED  
 
Where possible, we would ask that you continue to delay submitting your application until we have received 
advice from senior counsel in w/c 29 July, at which point we will provide further guidance. As previously briefed, 
the application process is essentially autonomous, meaning the processing of applications is expected to be swift. A full 
list of actions you can take to prepare is available here.  
 
However, it is recognised and understood that estates may want licences in place as soon as possible to protect 
commercial interests, and that leaving the submission of applications until late July or early August may feel too close to 
the wire for some. To that end, if you do feel the need to apply for your licence at this stage, SLE is recommending the 
following steps are taken. 
 
1. Submit your licence application per the revised guidance from NatureScot.  
a. If you are a landowner, you should ensure that your map specifies both the landholding boundary (red) and the area 

over which red grouse are taken or killed (blue), per the above example. 
b. If you are a sporting tenant, you should ensure that your map specifies the extent of your sporting rights (red) and 

the area over which red grouse are taken or killed (blue).  
2. Provided the landholding boundary / extent of your sporting rights is different to the area over which red grouse are 

taken or killed, you should submit the following statement to NatureScot on receipt of your licence: “Per the 
Wildlife Management and Muirburn Act, it is for an application to specify the area of land to which the licence is to 
relate. As the applicant, I had intended that said licenced area would constitute the area over which red grouse are 
taken or killed (shaded in blue). Any other information prescribed on the map constitutes additional information 
which NatureScot are entitled to ask for, but it is for the applicant to specify the area of land to which the licence is to 
relate.”  

The practical implications of the above means that the area of land to which the will licence relate will encompass the full 
extent of your landholding / sporting rights – until such a time that this successfully challenged. It is imperative that the 
licence holder and relevant persons involved in managing the land for grouse shooting understand the framework for 
modifying, suspending and revoking section 16AA licences and the code of practice for grouse moor management.  
 
PLEASE DIRECT ANY QUESTIONS OR QUERIES TO: 
 

       
        

 
E: scottishlandandestates.co.uk   E: scottishlandandestates.co.uk  
M:      M:   
 

~ Scottish 
~ Land&Estates 



From:
To: Francesca Osowska; Colin Galbraith
Cc:
Subject: Grouse Licensing
Date: 19 July 2024 14:51:00

Afternoon Both,
A quick update on Grouse Licences before I head off on leave:

· The team are working through a list of tasks to continue to ensure that our guidance is
clear, that the system is receiving applications and issuing licenses in line with the
guidance

· I have spoken to  at SLE again today and we are both committed to
continuing the conversation to reach sensible resolution and ideally avoiding legal action
where we can.

· SLE Counsel is not back from leave until 29th July, so their legal position will be clearer after
that.

· Our Comms Lines agreed for reactive queries are below.
· We are planning some proactive messages on social media channels over the next week or

so (which I highlighted this to  who is supportive).
·  is back next week and will keep tabs on this, but I will be on the mobile if you need

me.
Regards,

Line to take
NatureScot has been working closely with stakeholders to develop a workable licensing
scheme for grouse shooting that supports those who manage their grouse moors within
the law and acts as a strong deterrent to raptor persecution.
We are aware of concerns raised about the extent of the area of land to which a licence
will apply, and we are continuing to discuss this issue with Scottish Land & Estates and
others. We are clear that licences we issue should relate to the full landholding and not
just land over which grouse are taken and killed. This is because raptor persecution
undertaken in connection with grouse moor management could take place anywhere on
a property, not just on the grouse moor itself. We are happy to clarify any
misunderstanding and there is advice available to help applicants who require any
further support.

We would encourage those who need a licence to submit their application as soon as
possible, providing all the information as requested, so that it is in line with our detailed
guidance. This will ensure that licences can be in place before the start of the grouse
shooting season on August 12.

Draft social media post
NatureScot has been working closely with stakeholders to develop a workable licensing
scheme for grouse shooting that supports those who manage their grouse moors within
the law and acts as a strong deterrent to raptor persecution.
Anyone who needs a licence is encouraged to submit their application as soon as
possible to ensure that it can be in place before the start of the grouse shooting season
on August 12. Please follow the step-by-step guidance on our website and be sure to
include all the required information and supporting documentation:
https://www.nature.scot/professional-advice/protected-areas-and-
species/licensing/species-licensing-z-guide/red-grouse-and-licensing

 |  | 

I -
-



nature.scot | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba

Pronouns: he/him | If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working
flexibly but please do not feel that you have to pick this up outside of your own normal working hours.



From: 
To: -Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Date: 19 July 2024 10:39:00 

Thanks - -and yes, I t hink we hold fi re on social media unti l t he lie of the land is a bit 
clearer ... 

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

Sent: 19 July 2024 10:28 

To: nature.scot>; 

~ nature.scot>; ~ nature.scot> 
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Okay thanks - Final version below if everyone happy with this? 

Do we want to hold off on issuing the social media until we see how things play out over the 

next week or so? 

Line to take 

NatureScot has been working closely with stakeholders to develop a workable licensing 
scheme tor grouse shooting that supports those who manage their grouse moors within 
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
a property, not just on the grouse moor itself We are happy to clarity any 
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
https llwww nature scot/professional-advice/protected-areas-and-



species/licensing/species-licensing-z-guide/red-grouse-and-licensing

From:  < nature.scot> 
Sent: Friday, July 19, 2024 10:23 AM
To:  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences

I get it, but would prefer ‘should’ if that’s ok – because this is the point of debate (and as an
aside there are some questions about whether the ones that have been issued actually comply).
As for the rest happy with your suggested revisions.

 |  | 
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
Sent: 19 July 2024 10:11
To:  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences

Thanks both, I have slightly simplified that addition for ease of reading and I would also
suggest losing the word “should” – presumably we’ve already issued licences so we can be
definite about this.
Happy with this version?

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
others. We are clear that the licences we issue should relates to the full landholding and
not just land over which grouse are taken and killed. This is because raptor persecution
undertaken for the benefit of in connection with the grouse moor management could
take place anywhere on a property, not just on the grouse moor itself. We are happy to
clarify any misunderstanding and there is advice available to help any applicants who
require any further support.

We would encourage those who need a licence to submit their application as soon as
possible, providing all the information as requested, so that it is including the provision
of all information in the manner requested so it is and in line with our detailed guidance.
we have provided. This will ensure that licences can be in place before the start of the
grouse shooting season on August 12.

From:  < nature.scot> 
Sent: Friday, July 19, 2024 9:55 AM
To:  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Subject: Re: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences

-
I 



Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences 

HI-

How about this -

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
others. We are clear that the licence relates to the full landholding and not just land over 
which grouse are taken and killed. This is because raptor persecution undertaken for 
the benefit of the grouse moor management could take place anywhere on a property, 
not just on the grouse moor itself. We are happy to clarify any misunderstanding and 
there is advice available to help any applicants who require any further support. 

We would encourage those who need a licence to submit their application as soon as 
possible and in line with the detailed guidance we have provided. This will ensure that 
licences can be in place before the start of the grouse shooting season on August 12. 

Cheers, 

-
nature scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working 

flexibly but please do not feel that you have to pick this up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: ~ natu re.scot> 

Sent: 18 Ju ly 2024 17:02 

To: ~~~~>; 

~~=· = · nature.scot> 
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Hi all 

A starter for 1 O for comment 

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
which grouse are taken and killed. This is because…(  could you provide
some brief detail on rationale) We are happy to clarify any misunderstanding and there
is advice available to help any applicants who require any further support.

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

Many thanks

From:  < nature.scot>
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2024 1:59 PM
To:  < nature.scot>
Cc: @nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

 < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences

Yes – free now if that suits everyone?  – can you send round a link?

 |  | 

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
Sent: 18 July 2024 13:57
To:  < nature.scot>
Cc: @nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Update on Request to Delay Applications for Grouse Shooting Licences

Hi 

-

-

1111 

-



I've read the SLE note. Some questions and some thoughts. I 'm free all afternoon for a call. 

Should we bring into this discussion as well? 

-
From: nature scot> 
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2024 1:26 PM 

To: ~ nature.scot> 

Cc: @nature.scot>; ~ nature scot> 
Subject: FW: Update on Request to Delay Applicat ions for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Importance: High 

1111 
we spoke - need to get our heads round the comms on this - so we are on t he front foot where 

possible ... 

Happy to check in later wit - and■ once you have had t ime to digest ... 

I 

nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working 

flexibly but please do not feel that you have to pick t his up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Sent: 18 July 2024 11:42 

To: nature.scot>; 

nat ure.scot> 

Subject: FW: Update on Request to Delay Applicat ions for Grouse Shooting Licences 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

1111 
Attached, as discussed. 

Kind regards, 

■■ 

I 



From: 
To: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

FW: SLE discussion 29n/2024 
01 August 2024 14:51 :00 
- WRO0001.j~ 

From: harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Sent: Wednesday, Ju ly 31, 2024 5:39 PM 

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

To: harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Subject: RE: SLE discussion 29/7/2024 

atching up on grouse licence discussions. 

It wou ld be good to catch up on the questions in the email below. I also have some other 

queries from another stakeholder, which it would be good to check our proposed answers to. I 

wi ll getthem across to you separately. 

Have you got some time tomorrow? 



Many thanks, 

-



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Date: 
Attachments: 

harpermadeodcoukl: __ _ 

Fwd: Restricted, Confidential & Legally Privileged - Opinion of Senior Counsel - The Land to which the 
Section 1 6AA Licence Relates 
02 August 2024 11 :40:00 

OPINION Of SENIOR CQI JNSEI 2 A1111ust 2024 pdf 

- , as expected please find attached from SLE. I'm at the game fair today so haven't 
been able to access the document yet but i'm available on the phone if you can consider 
and if we need to speak today. 

-
Sent from Outlook for Android 
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• 
Scottish land & Estates 
Stuart House. Eskmills Business Park. Musselburgh EH21 7PB 
M: - T:~ : scot:Ushlandandestates.co.uk Twitter: @ScotLandEstates 



From: 
To: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

RE: Con 1dential and subject to legal privilege - l nitial thoughts on conditionality approach 
09 August 2024 06:59:00 

- WRO0001.j~ 

Many thank~ 

I' ll get back to you with any thoughts as soon as I can. 

Thanks, 

• 
From: harpermadeod.co.uk> 

Sent: Thursday, August 8, 2024 9:28 PM 

To: ~ nature.scot> 

Subject: Confidentia l and subject to legal privi lege - In itial thoughts on conditionality approach 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Hi -



From: 
To: 

Subject: 
Date: 

RE : Con 1dential and su~ect to legal privilege - Initial thoughts on conditionality approach 
12 August 2024 11 :45:00 

I hope you have had t ime to digestthis more fully. 

Can you let me know when would suit you today to discuss this? We have a meeting set up 

with SL&E & BASC on Wednesday and we are also getting media requests coming in thick and 

fast on the back of it being 12th August. 

■ and I are available all day-so if you can let me know when suits I will set up a call. 

Many Thanks, 

• 



• 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NattireScot 



1111 

We will not change bank account details during the course of a transaction. If you are due to transfer money to Harper Macleod and 
have received an e-mail with sort code and account details you should call your Harper Macleod contact to corroborate these details. 
Please use a phOne number from our website or terms of engagement letter and not one from the same e-mail as contains the bank 
account details. For other advice on protection from cyber-crime, see the National Cyber Security Centre website. 

Please consider the environment before printing this email 

Harper Macleod LLP is limited liability partnership regulated by the Law Society of Scotland, whose registered number is S0300331 and 
whose registered office is at The Cactoro. 45 Gordon Street, Glasgow G1 3PE. United Kingdom. Information, conclusions, opinions 
and/or advice contained in this message (or its attachments) are not given or endorsed by Harper Macleod LLP, unless originating from 
Harper Macleod LLP and transmitted in the normal course of their business. This message (and its attachments) is confidential and 
subject to legal professional privilege, and may be exempt from disclosure requirements arising under applicable law. Use, disdosure. 
transmission, copying or alteration of this message (or its attachments) is strictly forbidden unless expressly authorised by Harper 
Macleod LLP. This message (and its attachments) are intended for the name<l addressee only. If you have received this message (or its 
attachments) in error please destroy it and all copies of ii and notify the sender immediately. This message (and its attachments) have 
been scanned for viruses prior to leaving the Harper Macleod LLP network, however Harper Macleod LLP <loes not guarantee that this 
message (or its attachments) will be free from viruses, malicious code or such like. Harper Macleo<l LLP may process (including monitor) 



emails sent or received by it to enable it to comply with applicable law, operate its business, and/or to protect it or its clients.



From: 
To: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

RE: NatureScot 

22 August 2024 08:40:00 

- WRO0DOO.j~ 

Many thanks for these details around potential cond itions. 

Have you heard back fro~ e've got a meeting scheduled tomorrow morning with SL&E 

and BASC and it would be good to get any further thoughts or feedback ahead of this. 

Many thanks, 

-
Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

1111 

From-



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 
Date: 

Draft condition - grouse licence - in confidence 
16 September 2024 14:43 :00 

Scottish Government 

As you are aware, we are considering options to modify the grouse licensing scheme by 

changing the guidance around the area which the licence covers and adding a condition 

related to wildlife crime. We would welcome your views on the proposed condition, wh ich 

has been drafted with input from senior legal counsel, set out below: 

The modified scheme will propose a licence condition along the following lines: 

1 Conditions relating to land management 

1.1 The licence holder shafl ensure that nothing is done for the purposes of or in relation to the 
management of the land to which this licence relates, which would be an offence under 
sections 1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which: 

1.1 .1 involves any of the species mentioned at 1. 2 of this condition; and 

1.1.2 takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates. 

1.2 The species referred to at 1. 1. 1 of this condition are as follows: 

[Raptors etc.] 

We have given sight of th is proposed draft to SL&E and BASC and are meeting with them 

again on Wednesday. 

Many than ks, 

NatureScot I     

NatureScot I       

m 

nature srnt I @nature scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

-

- Scottish Government: ■■■■l_c-j;Scigo~ttlliisJ:!.h ~GQlovmemrn!!Im!!l:]en[!!t 

estnct . Confidential & Legally Privileged - Draft Condition - Section 16AA Licences 
20 September 2024 16:13:04 
image001.png 
image002.png 
image003.png 
image004.png 
image005 .png 
im~e006.png 

To keep you sighted on where we are in terms of moving to an applicant determining the land to 

which the licence relates with a conditioned approach to grouse licensing. 

The JR timeframe means a way forward would need to be identified by end of next week. 

-
NatureScot I Great Glen House I Inverness I IV3 8NW I 01463 

natu re.scot I @nature_scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

From: - ~ scottishlandandestates.co.uk> 

Sent: Friday, September 20, 2024 3:04 PM 

To: nature.scot>; 

nature.scot>; nature.scot>; _ 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc: scottishla ndandestates.co.uk>-

- @gil lesp iemaca ndrew .co.uk; @basc.org.uk>; -

@basc.o rg. u k> 

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

In relation to 1.1.2, we did provide a secondary option in the comment margin which would not 

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

1.1. 1 involves any of the species mentioned at 1. 2 of this condition; and 

1.1.2 takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates but the management of 
which is controlled by the licence holder. 

2. The species referred to at 1.1.1 of this condition are as follows: 

Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus), Red Kite (Milvus milvus), White-tailed Eagle (Ha/iaeetus albicilla), 
Eurasian Marsh Harrier (Circus aeruginosus), Hen Harrier (Circus cyaneus), Northern Goshawk (Accipiter 
gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus}, Common Buzzard (Buteo buteo), Golden Eagle 
(Aquila chrysaetos), Osprey (Pandion haliaetus), Common Kestrel (Falco tinnuncu/us), Merlin (Falco 
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

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Grateful if th is point 

could be given consideration ahead of our call at 1630. 

I also note your reference to the legislative intent: "addressing the issues of raptor persecution 

in the vicinity of grouse moors" . This being the case, we were surprised to see the Raven 

( Corvus corax) referend in the species at 1.2 given it is clearly a corvid and not a raptor. It would 

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
M - T:~ : scottishJandandestates.co.uk twitter: @Scotland.Estates 

Followus: ■ I iJ l■ J iJ • J 
Join today ... 

l ■ 

From: nature.scot> 



Sent: 20 September 2024 14:26
To:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 
< nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>; 
< nature.scot>
Cc:  < scottishlandandestates.co.uk>; 

@gillespiemacandrew.co.uk; @basc.org.uk>; 
@basc.org.uk>

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
gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus-), Common Buzzard (Buteo buteo), Golden Eagle
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
 

1-- -

1111 

■ -

-



Requires Legal Tnput 

LICENCE REFERENCE NUMBER: NS-GRS-XXXXX 

This licence has been granted under section 16(M) of Toe Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended} (the '198·1 Act) . 

Licence holder 
((r,Jar;ne)) 
((P.ddress )J 
Role: ((Owner/OCCl.(pierlOWner-occuplerJ) 

Valid from 
{(ClateFroml) 

Permi . ti activities 
1111& liGOAGO ~Q~RK U~Q kirlin~ Qf \3kiR§ Qf any ty~@ gf b~ rnclW99'51 iR f2art 1~ gfijchacJ~@ ~ 
Qllho 1Qll1 AGI; oRJ,r OR tl'lo 3r:g3 QflaRd loflOGiiiod OR thQ R=lilfl l,blQRJltlgd l'Qtll tl'li& 3flfllii;atiOR 
21& llsii ilfiie Qfl l'¢1ii;l:i lollGR 9iFQiHR~' 90 k-illgd OF laki!R . 

[Col:ldltionartext A - fOf applications received on or befo~ 30 September 2024] 

This licence pemiits the killing or laklng of any type of bird included in Part 1B of Schedule 2 
of the 1981 Act. 

The -area Of land to which this ~cence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the 
1981 Act is specified on the map submitted with tills application as the area on which such 
birds may be killed or taken_ 

Where the map has I boundary: that is the area of land to which this licence relates. 

Where the map has 2 boundaries: the area of land to which this licence re121tes is the tnner 
boundary (within the wider landholding)_ 

[Conditfona/ text B - fOI' applicat(ons received on or after 1 October 2024), 

This licence pemiits the killing or taxlng of any type of bird included in Part 1B of Schedule 2 
of the 1981 Acl 

Summary of Comments on sensitive legal 
advice Licence text - grouse - DRAFT -
23.09.24 (A4841847).pdf 

Page: 1 
Author. Date: 23/09/2024 17:14:00 +ol '00' 
Removed as the Landholding will no longei' be the 'area of land to whlch this licenceielates' 

Author. Date: 23/09/2024 17:22:00 -l--01 '00' 
Previous text under 'Permftted activitie,' (licences issued to date) 



Requires Legal input 

 

The area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the 
1981 Act is marked on the map submitted with the application for this licence as the area on 
which such birds may be killed or taken. 
 
Licence conditions   
1. Regard for Code of Practice 

   
You, as the Licence holder, must have regard for the code of practice: 
https://www.nature.scot/doc/guidance-code-practice-grouse-moor-management    
 
2. Recording and reporting requirements   
 
You must keep details of number of red grouse killed or taken on the land throughout the 
licence period (even if it is nil). You must keep details of how you comply with the Code of 
Practice. You must provide these details on an annual basis.   
 
3. General   
 
If you no longer require this licence - for example, due to a change in ownership or lease 
agreements - you must notify NatureScot and submit all required returns.   
 
NatureScot reserves the right to access the land associated with this licence for the purpose 
of compliance monitoring of the licenced activity and to ensure adherence to the licence 
conditions. NatureScot staff may be accompanied by other relevant person(s) to assist in 
this function.   
 
You must be able to produce a copy of this licence to any Police Officer, authorised person, 
or official of NatureScot on demand.   
 
You must inform NatureScot if there are any changes to your contact details.   
 
You must inform NatureScot of any relevant convictions of anyone working under this 
licence.   
 
Advisory notes   
This licence is granted subject to compliance with the conditions as specified. Anything done 
otherwise than in accordance with the terms of this licence may constitute an offence.   
 
This licence may be modified, revoked or suspended by NatureScot.   
 
Methods of killing prohibited under section 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
include; automatic weapons and shot-guns with a barrel that has an internal diameter at the 
mule of more than one and three-quarter inches.   
 
Map   
 
The image below is a reference to the map of the area, to which this licence relates, 
submitted with this application.   
 
Contact the Licensing team if you require a copy of the original file (full size).   
 

This page contains no comments



Requires Legal input 

 

Email: licensing@nature.scot   
Telephone: 01463 725364  
 
[Embedded map shows here] 
 

This page contains no comments



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 
Date: 
Attachments: 

In confidence - draft text for licence 
24 September 2024 10:03 :00 

1 jcence text - grouse - DRAFT - 23 09 24 docx 

Here is the draft text for the changed licence - the key section it would be helpful to get 

your feedback on is 'permitted activities' - this is where the changes re boundaries are 

explained. 

As per our chat earlier it would be good to get your advice on the options for modifying 

licences and anything we need to take into account from a legal perspective. It would be 

good to also understand the process re notifying LH's and the 14 day period . 

We are meet ing w ith SL&E again on Wed and it would be helpful to provide them with some 

details on how we can give them a commitment to make the changes ahead of the changes 

coming into effect. 

Many thanks 

• 
NatureScot I     

NatureScot I       

m: 

nature sr:ot I @nature scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



Requires Legal Tnput 

LICENCE REFERENCE NUMBER: NS-GRS-XXXXX 

This licence has been granted under section 16(M) of Toe Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended} (the '198 ·1 Act) . 

Licence holder 

((Name) ) 
((P.ddress )l 
Role: ((Owner/Occupier/OWner-occupierJ) 

Valid from 

{(ClateFromJ) 

VaJid to 
( ( explryDale l _ 

biiREli:lelEtiRg 

laiG Y60AGO ~Q~RE" U~Q "kirlin~ Qf \akiR§ gf any~~@ gf b~ rnclw9@'51 iR f2art 1~ gfijchacJ~@ ~ 
Qf l ho 1Qll1 Ad; QR]V QR 11:lo 3r:g3 QflaRd liflOGiiiod QR thQ R=lil? l,blQRJltlgd l'Qtll tl'li& 3f1plii;atiOR 
;11, 11:lii ilfiie Qfl l'<lliGR lillt.R 9iFQiHR~' gg k,lllgd OF lak,oR. 

[Condltionartext A - fOf applications reCj!ivecl oo or befo~ 30 September 2024] 

This licence permits the killing or taklng of any type of bird included in Part 1B of Schedule 2 
of the 1981 Act. 

The -area Of land to which this ~cence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of the 
1981 Act is specified on the map submitted with tills application as the -area on which such 
birds may be killed or taken_ 

Where the map has t boundary: that is Ille area of land to which this licence relates. 

Where the map has 2 boundaries: the area of land to which this licence relates is the tnner 
boundary (within the wider landholding)_ 

[Conditfona/ text B - fOI' applicat(ons re~rved on or after 1 October 2024), 

This licence permits the killing or taxlng of any type of bird included in Part 1B of Schedule 2 
of the 1981 Acl 

Summary of Comments on Licence text 
grouse - DRAFT - 23.09.24 (002).pdf 

Page: 1 
Author: Date: 23/ 09/2024 17:14:00 +-01 '00' 
Removed as the Landholding will no longer be the 'area of land td whkh this l icence relates' 

Author: Date: 23/ 09/20:24 17:22~ +-01 '00' 
Previous text under 'Permitted activities' 0icences issued to date) 



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

FW: Modi 1cation process 
26 September 2024 15 :19:00 
In confidence - draft text for licence{27799774.1) .msg.nrl 
- WR00004 .jpg 

Just going into a meeting with - til • .... can catch up on any of details in email below after 

that 

From: harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Sent: Thursday, September 26, 2024 2:19 PM 

To: ._nature.scot> 

Subject: FW: Modificat ion process 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

Maps - I have just gone through the online application and note that the applicant has to upload a map 
which "must show the landholding boundary and area over which you have the right to kill or take red 
grouse. Your document must be smaller than 10MB" 

The system then produces a licence which defines the land on which permitted activities can take place 
as ''the area of land specified on the map submitted with this application as the area on which such birds 
may be killed or taken. " 

The guidance explains to the applicant that they have to upload "A map which shows the landholding 
boundary and areas over which you have the right to kill or take grouse - this will be the area to which 
the licence relates and the area over which red grouse may be killed or taken. " 

 
 

 

 
 

 
     

Timing - I think we covered this off in a subsequent call , but, for completeness, there is no obligation to 
reissue the licence as modified - it is sufficient to only give notice of the modification. 

Kind regards, 

1111 



From: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 
Date: 

OFFICIAL -SENSITIVE - proposal to modify licences 

27 September 2024 12:36 :00 

Here is a link to a paper setting out the rationale and seeking sign for the decision to modify 

grouse licences: 

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE Proposal to modify licences to take or kill red grouse - paper to 
sign off decision 
bttps-Unaturescot.nexus objective co.uk/documents/A4754591 /details 

And below is the proposed draft text to forward to SL&E and BASC to commit to making 

these changes (this incorporates advice from -

Based on challenges to the current approach to licensed areas and having taken advice 

from senior counsel NatureScot has taken the decision to modify the licences to take or kill 

grouse, issued under section 16AA of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. These 

modifications will provide a new definition of "land to which the licence relates". The new 

definition will be the area of land which the licence holder specifies as the area on which 

they will undertake the permitted activities (as opposed to the wider landholding which is 

the position under the existing licences). At the same time, a new condition will be 

introduced to ensure that the key aim of legislation - the reduction in raptor persecution in 

the vicinity of grouse moors - will remain at the core of the licensing regime. 

I spoke to - and have agreed to circulate the decision paper once signed off to him 

and • . I have also agreed to keep them sighted on comms messages, lines to take and 

timetable to both licence holders and wider stakeholders. They will update the Minister. 

We've got a catch up on Wednesday afternoon so can provide more detail then. 

Many than ks, 

NatureScot I     

NatureScot I       

m: 

nature scot I @nature scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



 

OFFICIAL- SENSITIVE  
DRAFT  

Decision to modify licences to take or kill red grouse 
 

 
Purpose  
The purpose of this paper is to seek sign off for the decision to modify licences to take or kill 
grouse, issued under section 16AA of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
Action  
• To note the rationale behind the decision to modify the licences to take or kill red grouse 
• To sign off the decision to modify the licences to take or kill red grouse  
 
Background 
NatureScot was given delegated authority to introduce licences to take or kill red grouse in 
July 2024. The on-line application form was launched on 15th July. As of September 27th, 
2024, there were 240 active licences. The policy intent of the licence to take or kill red 
grouse is to deter raptor persecution. Provisions sought to introduce an ability for licences to 
be suspended or revoked where there was evidence that a relevant offence had been 
committed where there was a connection between the licenced activity (management for the 
purposes of grouse shooting) by the licence holder or someone involved in managing the 
land to which the licence relates.  
 
The Act as passed however restricted this provision to ‘on the land’ to which the licence 
relates. The Act also states that is for the applicant to determine the land to which the 
licence relates. This has the effect of restricting the area to which relevant crimes can be 
considered for the purposes of suspension or revocation.  
 
The licensing process currently requests a map showing the boundary over which the 
applicant seeks the licence to take or kill grouse and the landholding boundary (if different). 
All issued licences include an embedded map and text explaining that the area of land to 
which the licence relates is the landholding boundary and the area over which the applicant 
has the right to take or kill grouse is the area in which the permitted activities can take place.  
 
This approach to determining the area of land to which the licence relates has been 
challenged on the basis that it went beyond the powers set out in the legislation. Senior 
Counsel opinion has confirmed potential grounds for successful challenge. However, this 
noted that the effect of restricting the area to which the licence related would make it difficult 
to achieve the policy intent where there were instances of relevant wildlife crime connected 
to the management of the grouse moor but outwith the licensed area.  
 
Position and way forward 
We have sought legal advice on addressing scenarios where wildlife crime related to the 
management of the grouse moor had occurred outwith the area specified in the licence. The 
advice has settled on developing a condition which requires the licence holder or persons 
under their employment or control to not commit any offences in relation to raptors outside of 
the licenced area. The approach and detail have been developed with advice and feedback 
from our solicitor and senior legal counsel. It has also been shared and discussed with those 
who had raised the potential legal challenge.  
 
Care has been taken in drafting a ‘reasonable’ condition which does not innovate on the 
legislation and therefore is a defendable way forward. This may realise, at least in part, the 
intent of the legislation to address raptor persecution associated with grouse moor 
management. However the condition is restrictive in the circumstances in which it can be 



 

applied and in the need for the licence holder to take ‘reasonable steps to ensure..’ offences 
have not been committed. 
 
Modifying the (approx. 240) licences which are currently in place comes with risk in that 
individual licence holders appeal the modification to the sheriff court. The is also still a risk of 
Judicial Review.  
 
To fully achieve what we believe to be the original intent of the legislation will require a 
change to the primary legislation. 
 
Decision 
On the basis of addressing the potential legal challenge and moving forward with a more 
defendable licensing approach approval is ought to modify licences to take or kill red grouse 
by: 
 
• Accepting and changing the guidance around the area of land to which the licence 

relates to being that which the applicant specifies and not requiring details on the full 
boundary of the landholding. 
 

• Adding a new condition (see Annex 1) around wildlife crime associated with raptors 
outwith the licensed area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Annex 1. Proposed new condition to be added to licences 
  

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
Subject: Summary of position with grouse licences and process to modify them for  (A4765291)
Date: 03 October 2024 16:49:00

Hi 
 
As promised, here is a summary of position and process re making changes to grouse
licences:

Summary of position with grouse licences and process to modify them for  
https://naturescot.nexus.objective.co.uk/documents/A4765291/details

Happy to add any detail
 
Thanks,
 

-
-

-

-



 

Modifying licences for land which may be used to take or kill red grouse 
 

Communications - Key messages and lines to take 
 
 
Key messages 
 
Background 
• The Wildlife Management and Muirburn (Scotland) Act 2024 introduced the requirement 

for licences to be in place over land where shooting of red grouse would take place. 
• NatureScot was given the delegated authority to develop and implement these licences. 
• The intention of the licences is to act as a deterrent to wildlife crime. They can be 

removed where there is evidence of relevant offences being committed by anyone 
involved in managing the land under licence on the land to which the licence relates. 
Removing a licence would mean that it would be an offence for anyone to shoot red 
grouse on that area of land.  

• The licences were launched in July 2024.  
 
What is happening 
• NatureScot will be modifying the licences for land which may be used to take or kill red 

grouse. 
• We will be making two changes – 1) to the description of the land to which the licence 

relates and 2) inserting a new condition around wildlife crime.  
• The changes will mean that it will be up to the person applying for the licence to specify 

the area to which the licence relates. We will no longer require the landholding boundary. 
• In practice we expect that the area covered by the licence will be the extent of the grouse 

moor. 
• At the same time, we will introduce a new condition which requires the licence holder or 

anyone under their control or employment to not commit any offences related to raptors 
in connection with the management of the grouse moor outwith the area covered by the 
licence. 

• We are looking to issue modified licences in November. 
• The modified licences will explain the new definition of land to which the land relates and 

will include an additional condition on wildlife crime. Modified licences will be issued to 
licence holders through the on-line system. 
 

Why it is happening  
• We will be making these changes to help ensure that the licences are lawful and legally 

compliant and that we are competent in our role as a regulator 
• Legal advice identified that it is up to the applicant to specify the area over which the 

licence should relate.  
• We have introduced a new condition to help ensure that we can help meet the policy 

intent of the legislation i.e. tackle raptor persecution. 
 
 
Lines to take 
 
NatureScot has been working closely with stakeholders and our legal advisors to develop 
and deliver a workable licensing scheme for grouse shooting that supports those who 
manage their grouse moors within the law and acts as a strong deterrent to raptor 
persecution.  
 
Following further legal advice about the area of land to which the licence relates, we will be 
modifying licences. Licences will now cover the land specified by the applicant as the area 



 

where they may kill or take red grouse. We will also add a new condition to licences which 
will allow us to act if raptor persecution which is connected to the grouse moor takes place 
outside of this licensed area.  
 
This is a new licence for NatureScot and, as with all our licences, we continually review and 
develop our processes to identify improvements. These changes will ensure our grouse 
licences are legally robust, while continuing to act as a strong deterrent to wildlife crime as 
was the legislation's intent. 
 
 



 

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
 
If you submitted two boundaries on the map in your initial application, NatureScot will modify 
your licence so that the smaller area becomes the land to which the licence relates. 
However, if the smaller boundary does not accurately specify the area over which red grouse 
may be taken or killed, you can submit a new map. You must do this before Friday 25th 
October 2024. 
 
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
condition will require the licence holder to ensure that they, or anyone under their control or 
employment, do not commit an offence in relation to raptors. 
 
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

Timetable and key dates for modifying grouse licences 

07 October 2024 16:45:00 

Below is a summary of the proposed timetable for modifying the grouse licences: 

Tues 8th Oct - circulate briefing to all Licensing Officers, Wild life Management Officers and 

Operational Managers on key points re upcoming modification 

Wednesday 9th Oct - send email out to all licence holders providing them with a heads up 

that modifications are planned. Put details on intra net about the changes so all staff are 

aware 

Thursday 10th Oct - add factual det ai ls of the proposed modification on the grouse pages 

on the internet 

w/c 28th October- look to issue modification notice and modified licences 

Key messages and lines to take are in place -
https://naturescot.nexus.objective.co.uk/docwnents/A4764121/details. They've been 
shared with SG and - has also had sight. The email ~ cence holders know 
about the modificati~s been drafted with input from -

Let me know if you need any further details at this point or if you have any questions. 

Many thanks, 

• 
NatureScot I        

NatureScot I        

m: 

natqre smt I @nature scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 



From: 
To: 
Subject: 

Date: 
Attachments: 

@gov scot · - - Scottish Government 
RE: DRAFT not for use until signed off - Key messages and lines to take on modifying grouse licences -
DRAFT 3rd October 2024 (A4764121) 

08 October 2024 08 :17:00 

Kei,: messages and lines to take on modifying grouse licences - 3rd October 2024 IA4764J 2J J dcx;x 

Many thanks -

Here is a final version. In relation to your comment, we have kept that bullet in as its aims 

is to try and reduce potential for smaller areas - hope that makes sense. 

The plan is to circulate an email to licence holders tomorrow letting them know that 

changes will be coming. We will then add a summary of the proposed changes and why 

they are being made to the grouse licensing page on our website on Thursday. This will 

draw on the key messages. 

Can you let me know if you have any comments on any of this? 

Many thanks, 

• 
From @gov.scot @gov.scot> 

Sent: Friday, October 4, 2024 1:36 PM 

nature.scot>;- - Scottish Government 

Subject: RE: DRAFT not for use unti l signed off - Key messages and lines to take on modifying 

grouse licences - DRAFT 3rd October 2024 (A4764121) 

Caufion! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Hi -

See a couple of changes and one comment. Also including - in case he 
would like to review early next week. 

Thanks -
From: ~ nature.scot> 
Sent: Friday, October 4, 2024 9:59 AM 

To: @gov .scot> 

Subject: DRAFT not for use until signed off- Key messages and lines to take on modifying grouse 

licences - DRAFT 3rd October 2024 (A4764121) 



 
Here are the draft key messages and lines to take re modifying the grouse licences.
Can you let me know any comments?
 
Many thanks,
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order to secure the effective operation of the system and for other lawful
purposes. The views or opinions contained within this e-mail may not
necessarily reflect those of the Scottish Government.
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

Sent: Tuesday, October 8, 2024 8:49 AM 

To:- ~ harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Subject: RE: IN CONFIDENCE DRAFT not for use until signed off - Email to licence holders re grouse 

modifications DRAFT 4th October 2024 {A4766829) 

I note that the suggest edits remove the para on the additional condition. Would be good to get 

your views on this? The letter is intended to be a heads up of the changes which will be made 

as well as letting them know they could supply a different map- is there a reason for not 

including ref to the new condition in the letter? 

Many thanks, • 
From:- ~ harpermacleod.co.uk> 

Sent: Monday, October 7, 2024 11:25 AM 

To: nature .scot> 

Subject: IN CONFIDENCE DRAFT not for use until signed off - Email to licence holders re grouse 

modifications DRAFT 4th October 2024 {A4766829) 

I have revised, per attached. I think this reflects what is being attempted by Step 1 - although everything 
turns on the final definition of the map. 

Kind regards, .. 

We will not change bank account details during the course or a transaction. If you are due to transfer money to Harper Macleod and 
have received an e-mail with sort code and account details you should call your Harper Macleod contact to corroborate these details. 



Please use a phone number from our website or terms of engagement letter and not one from the same e-mail as contains the bank
account details.  For other advice on protection from cyber-crime, see the National Cyber Security Centre website.

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
Thoiribh an aire airson adhbharan gnothaich, ‘s dòcha gun tèid sùil a chumail air puist-dealain a’ tighinn a-steach agus a’ dol
a- mach bho NàdarAlba.



 

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
- a change to the definition of the land to which your licence relates 
- a new condition around wildlife crime 
 
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
 
[H2] Land to which the licence relates 
 
The modified definition of land will mean that we will no longer require the landholding 
boundary. Instead, we will only need the boundary over which you ‘may kill or take red 
grouse’. We expect this to be the extent of the grouse moor.  
 
The map which will be included on your modified licence will depend on the content of the 
map you submitted with your initial application. 
 
If you only identified 1 boundary on the map submitted with your initial application, then your 
original, unaltered map, will be included on the licence.  
 
If you identified 2 boundaries on the map submitted with your initial application, we will add a 
legend to that map which will specify the smaller area as the area of land to which the 
licence relates. That map, with the legend added, will be issued with your modified licence.  
 
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
 



 

[H2] Wildlife crime 
 
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
..:...RSeB.S. 

RE: Grouse Licensing issue 

09 '0ctober 2024 08 :20:00 

-
We would be happy to meet and discuss this. 

As you point out our licensing approach has to be informed by t he wording in the Wild life 

Management and Muirburn Act and we have been working with legal advice to determine 

how to help ensure that the licences are legally competent. This has highlighted an issue 

around boundaries and what the Act allows us to ask fo r by way of the land to which the 

licence relates. Advice f rom lawyers is that the Act does not allow for us to apply the 

licence to the landholding, unless this area is specified as being the area to which the 

licence should relate by the applicant. As a consequence, we will be changing our 

guidance on this , but we will be clear that we expect the licence to cover the extent of the 

grouse moor. From our understand ing and from the licences we have to date there is no 

indication that applicants are looking to stipulate a tiny area. To ensure that we can still 

revoke a licence where there is rapt or persecut ion outwith the licensed area, we will be 

adding a new condition to the licence. 

We will add some explanatory text about these changes on our website tomorrow. 

Let me know if you would like to discuss this further and I will look to set up a meeting .. 

Many thanks, 

• 
From @rspb.org.uk> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 8, 2024 6:46 PM 

To: 

Cc: 
Subject: RE: Grouse Licensing issue 

e.scot>; 

nat ure.scot> 

@rspb.org.uk> 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

Good afternoon folks, 

At a recent meeting - and I had wit h Scottish Government officials, we expressed our 

concern that the wording of the Wildl ife Management and Muirburn Act seems to enable a land 

manager to apply for a grouse shooting licence that on ly needs to include a tiny area around 

grouse shooting butts, because that is the precise area is where grouse "may be killed or taken". 

l 



We assume that in such a scenario, NatureScot cannot revoke or suspend that licence even if it is
satisfied that a relevant offence by a person connected to the management of the wider grouse
moor, away from the tiny area covered by the licence, has taken place?
 
We understood, from the below conversation, that NatureScot’s position was that licences
would relate to an entire landholding – we would be grateful if you could confirm if this is still
the position. While you acknowledged previously that you were in dialogue with SLE about this
issue, we would also be grateful if you could provide any information about wider stakeholders
who were consulted during these discussions.
 
Given the scenario we describe earlier potentially undermines the primary purpose of the
legislation, it would be good to know where NatureScot stands on this issue, and whether a
future amendment to the legislation is required.
 
We’re grateful for any information you can provide, and of course, will be happy to meet and
discuss these issues.
 
Kind regards,
 

 
 
 
 

From:  < nature.scot> 
Sent: Friday, July 19, 2024 1:27 PM
To: @rspb.org.uk>; 

@rspb.org.uk>
Cc:  < nature.scot>;  < nature.scot>;

@rspb.org.uk>
Subject: RE: Grouse Licensing issue
 

 
Thanks for getting in touch.
 
In Summary – we are in dialogue with SLE about different interpretations of the act and how we
are applying it.  Specifically in relation to the area of land that 16AA licences relates to and
whether it is the applicant or us as the licencing authority who ultimately decides.
We are clear that licences we issue should relate to the full landholding and not just land over
which grouse are taken and killed, because as you well know, raptor persecution undertaken in
connection with grouse moor management could take place anywhere on a property, not just on
the grouse moor itself.  I suspect this may rumble on a for a couple of weeks yet and might
ultimately end up in a legal challenge. I will ask  to catch up with you in more depth when
he is back from leave next week.
 
Regards,
 

■ 

■ 

-



-
nature.scot I Scotland's Nature Agency I Buidheann Nadair na h-Alba 

Pronouns: he/him I If you receive this email late at night or early in the morning it means I am working 

flexibly but please do not fee l that you have to pick this up outside of your own normal working hours. 

From: @rspb.org.uk> 

Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2024 2:03:38 PM 

~ nature.scot> 

Cc rspb.org.uk> 

Subject: Grouse Licensing issue 

--
I note the following from the GWCT's facebook page, posted today. 

"Urgent Update: Licensing Scheme for Grouse Shooting Launch ! " 

We've been advised by Scottish Land & Estates that grouse moor managers shou ld delay 

submitt ing grouse shoot licence app lications, pending resolution of a legal issue which came to 

light in discussions between Scottish Land & Estates and NatureScot at the end of last week 

{12/7 /24) . 

It was expected that th is would be resolved this week, but the position remains unclear. The 

pause will ensure that all li cences are submitted correctly and accurately. 

The legal issue relates to the area of land to which the licence relates. Once there is clarity on 

the legal position from Scottish Land & Estates, we will provide a further update." 

Grateful if you can provide any details. 

Thanks, 

■ 

This email and any attachments may contain material that is confidential , subject to copyright and intended for the 
addressee only_ If you are not the named recipient you must not use, disclose, reproduce, copy or distribute the 
contents of this communication. If you have received this in error, please contact the sender and then delete this email 
from your system. The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity in England and Wales no. 
207076 and in Scotland no. SC037654. 

The RSPB is committed to maintaining your data privacy. We promise to keep your details safe and will never sell them 
on to third parties. To find out more about how we use your information please read our onjjne Privacy Poljcy· 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to 
whom they are addressed. If you have received this emaiJ in error please notify the system manager or the sender. 
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

Licensing of Grouse Shooting 

10 October 2024 13:25:57 
image001.png 

- Scottish Government 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot. 

We are very concerned that the grouse shoot licensing system t hat we and many others hoped and 

understood t he Wildlife Management and Muirburn Act 2025 (WMM Act) would deliver is being steadily 

eroded, and t hat we are rapidly approaching a situation where we th ink it will be virtually impossible for the 

licencing authority to suspend or revoke a licence, even if a flagrant breach of the law occurs. 

Many stakeholders had input to t he Pa rl iamentary process as the Bill proceeded t hrough its various stages; 

responding to consultations; having meetings with MSPs; giving verbal and written evidence; and providing 

briefings. Scrutiny of the Bill and t he amendments lodged was an open and transparent process. The Grouse 

Shooting Code of Practice meetings gave the opportunity for broad consensus to be achieved across a 

similar wide range of stakeholders, and it was accepted that there was an int ri nsic relationsh ip between the 

legislation, the Code and the licence conditions. 

However, many of the organisations inti mately invo lved throughout the independent "Werritty Review"; 

the passage of the Bill; and t he formulation of t he Code of Practice; have not, as far as we are aware, been 

given any opportunity to be involved in the process of drawing up, commenting on, or amending suggested 

licence conditions. In our view, t h is is contrary to what NatureScot said in evidence given in the Scottish 

Parliament, when it was stated more than once that in constructing a licensing framewo rk that NatureScot 

"will work with stakeholders to set out the type of evidence that we will consider and the circumstances in 

which we would consider suspension, revocat ion or modification". However, Natu reScot's robust position 

on land to be covered by a licence just a few months ago, appears to have changed markedly following 

exclusive discussions with SLE and perhaps also other land management stakeholders on ly. 

We now appear to have a situation where grouse shooting licences are only required to cover the area 

where grouse are shot, rather than a whole landholding - while Natu reScot have stated that they expect 

that to cover t he whole grouse moor, that is entirely down to the applicant, who could simply map a r ing 

round their grouse butts to be legally compliant. This is far from the understand ing t hat we have had 

throughout t he legislative process. 

As a licence holder ourselves on RSPB Scotland land, we have recent ly been informed by NatureScot of a 

new grouse shooting licence condition about ra ptor persecution, which ra ises f urther questions. 

Until this new licence condition was announced, it appeared that any relevant offence occurring outside the 

mapped and licensed area did not fit into the criteria under the new section 16AA(8) of t he WCA that could 

lead to a licence being suspended or revoked . The new wildlife crime licencing condition perhaps attempts 

to address this with respect to raptor persecution, but not any other offences. 

The new condition also creates a 'due diligence' defence for a licence holder to have take n "reasonable 

steps" to ensure that their employees do not break the law with respect to raptor persecution. This 

'defence' presumably is something that would be considered by a Sheriff if an appeal relating to a licence 

suspension is lodged, and is surely not for the licensing authority to assess? Given this defence is already 

written into vicarious liability legislat ion that is already part of the 1981 Act (as amended) we wonder why 

this is now included as part of a new licence condition? 

The new guidance states that this new 'wildlife crime licensing condition' will apply outside of the licensed 

area of a landholding but only where offences committed are related to management of the grouse moor. In 

a scenario where a buzzard is found dying in an illegally-set pole t rap on a sporting estate, 2km away from 



the licensed grouse moor, we question what evidence will be required, and how it will be obtained, to allow
an assessment if that crime was linked to grouse moor management, particularly if it was an estate that also
had pheasant shooting? In summary, we believe that this new condition means that establishing a link
between raptor persecution offences and grouse moor management, and to act as a meaningful deterrent
to wildlife crimes, will now require a burden of proof that will be virtually impossible to achieve.
 
We are exceedingly concerned that the intention of the WMM Act will not be delivered by the current
licensing system, largely because new licence conditions will allow estate employees to continue to commit
wildlife crime offences and avoid any sanctions for their employer.
We urgently request written answers to the key questions we ask below;

Which stakeholders were consulted during the process of reassessing what area of land should be
covered by a grouse shooting licence?
Were Police Scotland or the National Wildlife Crime Unit involved in the drawing up of the new
wildlife crime licence condition?
Which stakeholders were consulted with regard to the new wildlife crime licence condition?
Why does the new wildlife crime licence condition only relate to raptor persecution and not to
the other relevant offences included in the Act?
How does NatureScot intend to establish if an offence away from a licensed grouse shooting area
is related to management of the grouse moor?
We also ask what, if any, guidance NatureScot has had to ensure that an offence outside an area
covered by a grouse shooting licence can lead to potential licence revocation or suspension that
will stand up to legal challenge?

We look forward to hearing your thoughts on these matters and would like a meeting to discuss these
points at the earliest opportunity.
 
Best wishes
 
 

, RSPB Scotland

@rspb.org.uk
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From:
To:
Subject: RE: Final text from Legal
Date: 10 October 2024 16:00:00

Text re the reason:
 
Following a review of the licencing process, NatureScot has decided to change its
approach to defining  “.the area of land to which land to which the licence relates” for all
existing and new licences.
 
The addition of the new condition relating to raptor control, will ensure that licence
holders will remain responsible, in defined circumstances, for raptor persecution
undertaken outside of the perimeter of the licenced area but as part of the management
of the land to which the licence relates.
 
The changes will provide for greater clarity for new applicants and existing licence
holders and provide for a more legally robust licensing scheme. 
 
Thanks,
 

 
From:  < nature.scot> 
Sent: Thursday, October 10, 2024 3:49 PM
To: @nature.scot>
Subject: RE: Final text from Legal
 
Hi
 
Still working on the text under ‘reasons for the modification’ but final text for new condition
and permitted activities is:
 
The new condition (around raptor persecution).
 
‘1. The licence holder shall not do any act, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that
no person within their employment or control shall do any act, for the purposes of or in
relation to the management of the land to which this licence relates which would be an
offence under sections 1, 5 or 6 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and
which:
 
1.1.            involves any of the species mentioned at 2 of this condition; and
1.2.    takes place on land other than the area of land to which this licence relates.
 
 2. The species referred to at 1.1 of this condition are as follows:
 
Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus), Red Kite (Milvus milvus), White-tailed Eagle (Haliaeetus
albicilla), Eurasian Marsh Harrier (Circus aeruginosus), Hen Harrier (Circus cyaneus),
Northern Goshawk (Accipiter gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus­), Common

-

-



Buzzard (Buteo buteo), Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos), Osprey (Pandion haliaetus),
Common Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus), Merlin (Falco columbarius), Eurasian Hobby (Falco
Subbuteo), Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus), Rough-legged buzzard (Buteo lagopus),
Barn Owl (Tyto alba), Little Owl (Athene Noctua), Tawny Owl (Strix aluco), Long-eared Owl
(Asio otus), Short-eared Owl (Asio flammeus), Snowy Owl (Nyctea scandiaca), Raven
(Corvus corax)’
 
Text for the ‘permitted activities’ section of the licence. The latest draft I have is:
 
‘The area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii)
of the 1981 Act is the area specified on the map included in this licence.’
 
Thanks,
 

 
 
From: @nature.scot> 
Sent: Wednesday, October 9, 2024 5:23 PM
To:  < nature.scot>
Subject: Final text from Legal 
Importance: High
 
Hi 
 
I am tidying up the remaining grouse tickets following sprint planning today.
 
Before you go on leave, please can you confirm the final text for:
 
The new condition (around raptor persecution). The latest draft I have is:
 
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
1.2.    takes place on land other than that to which this licence relates.
 
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
 
‘The area of land to which this licence relates for the purposes of section 16AA(6)(a)(ii) of
the 1981 Act is the area specified by the licence holder on the map submitted with the
licence application as the area on which the licence holder may take or kill red grouse.’
 
The ‘Reason for modification’ (this will be included in the modification email when
sent to licence holders) – I have tweaked the latest draft based on the recent email –
does this look ok?
 
'This licence was modified due to a change in NatureScot guidance.
The area of land to which this licence relates is specified in the map referenced on this
licence.  
A new condition was inserted relating to the prevention of raptor persecution.’
 
Thanks

 

 People and Organisational Development
 
NatureScot | Caspian House | Clydebank Business Park | G81 2NR | t: 0146
nature.scot | @nature_scot | Scotland’s Nature Agency | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba
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From: 
To: ; -
Cc: 

Subject: RE: Grouse licence condition [OFFICIAL] 

31 October 2024 16:50:52 Date: 

Caution! This message was sent from outside NatureScot 

OFFICIAL 

I appreciate the attempt made to shore up the situation and Know my concerns are too late 

but on looking at this I instantly see three issues: 

• take reasonable steps- licence holder: "their contract of employment clearly 

stipulates they must not commit any wildlife crime" 

• for the purposes of or in relation to the management of the land - we can't evidence 

motive. 

• species referred to at 1. 1. 1 of this condition are as follows: - why just the list of birds 

rather than the full list of relevant offences. Any of the full list of offences can be 

done with the motive being protection of grouse stocks. 

I 
Regard~ -

From: 

Sent: 31 October 2024 16:28 

@nature.scot> 

To: @scotland.police.uk>; -

- @scotland.pol ice.uk>; - nwcu.police.uk>; -

@nwcu.police.uk> 

--nature.scot> 

Subject: Grouse licence condition 

nature.scot>; 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 



Hi all,
 

 has sent the new condition through and asked me to share it with you:
 

1. The licence holder shall not do any act, and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that no
person within their employment or control shall do any act, for the purposes of or in relation
to the management of the land to which this licence relates which would be an offence
under sections 1, 5 or 6 of the 1981 Act and which:

 
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
(Accipiter gentilis), Eurasian Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus-), Common Buzzard (Buteo buteo),
Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos), Osprey (Pandion haliaetus), Common Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus),
Merlin (Falco columbarius), Eurasian Hobby (Falco Subbuteo), Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus),
Rough-legged buzzard (Buteo lagopus), Barn Owl (Tyto alba), Little Owl (Athene Noctua), Tawny Owl
(Strix aluco), Long-eared Owl (Asio otus), Short-eared Owl (Asio flammeus), Snowy Owl (Nyctea
scandiaca), Raven (Corvus corax)
 
Regards
 

 
 – Wildlife Management

NatureScot  | 
nature.scot  | @nature_scot  |  Scotland’s Nature Agency  | Buidheann Nàdair na h-Alba
I work compressed hours with alternate Fridays off. 
 
 

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
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